Eastern Kentucky University

Encompass

Online Theses and Dissertations

Student Scholarship

January 2019

The Efficacy of Residential Learning Communities on First Generation, First-Year College Students' Success at a Rural Regional University

April Dannielle Barnes Eastern Kentucky University

Follow this and additional works at: https://encompass.eku.edu/etd

Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons

Recommended Citation

Barnes, April Dannielle, "The Efficacy of Residential Learning Communities on First Generation, First-Year College Students' Success at a Rural Regional University" (2019). *Online Theses and Dissertations*. 611. https://encompass.eku.edu/etd/611

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at Encompass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Online Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Encompass. For more information, please contact Linda.Sizemore@eku.edu.

THE EFFICACY OF RESIDENTIAL LEARNING COMMUNITIES ON FIRST GENERATION, FIRST-YEAR COLLEGE STUDENTS' SUCCESS AT A RURAL REGIONAL UNIVERSITY

ΒY

APRIL DANNIELLE BARNES

DISSERTATION APPROVED:

harles \$

Chair, Advisory Committee Dr. Charles Hausman

sain lun

Member, Advisory Committee Judith Spain, JD.

TV

Member, Advisory Committee Dr. Gill Hunter

Dean, Graduate School

STATEMENT OF PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Doctor of Education at Eastern Kentucky University, I agree that the Library shall make it available to borrowers under rules of the Library. Brief quotations from this documents are allowable without special permission, provided that accurate acknowledgements of the source is made. Permission for extensive quotation from or reproduction of this document may be granted by my major professor or in his absence, by the Head of Interlibrary Services when, in the opinion of either, the proposed use of the material is for scholarly purposes. Any copying or use of the material in this document for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Signature:

X April Barnes

Date: 11/19/2019

THE EFFICACY OF RESIDENTIAL LEARNING COMMUNITIES ON FIRST GENERATION, FIRST-

YEAR COLLEGE STUDENTS' RETENTION AT A RURAL REGIONAL UNIVERSITY

ΒY

APRIL DANNIELLE BARNES

MASTER OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF NORTH DAKOTA GRAND FORKS, ND 2005

BACHELOR OF ARTS UNIVERSITY OF NORTH DAKOTA GRAND FORKS, ND 2002

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

Eastern Kentucky University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

© Copyright by APRIL DANNIELLE BARNES 2019 All Rights Reserved.

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to the wonderful and amazing group of people who ride the crazy train of life with me. Dad, we miss you.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Some accomplishments are bigger than yourself. This dissertation is one of them. This would not have been possible without the love and support of all my people. Dave, thank you for keeping the home fires burning during all my late-night dissertation sessions. I couldn't have done this without your love and support. Morgan, Abbie, and Bennett thank you so much for your patience and understanding throughout this process. You are the greatest joy this life has offered me. I look forward to lots more dancing in the kitchen and endless days on the lake.

To my parents, who always told me I could accomplish anything and were always present, loud, and proud. Mom, thank you for talking me through every phase of life, you are the constant, steady, calming presence in my life. Dad, you were the loud and crazy. I'm sorry you didn't get to see me finally become the doctor you always told people I'd be, I'll miss your cheer when walking across the stage. Thank you both for teaching me to love loudly and fiercely. To my siblings who are my favorite people on this earth, I'm so glad we choose each other, there's no way I'd be able to do this life without you. It may be a crazy train, but it is our crazy train and I wouldn't have it any other way.

Thank you to the amazing people I've worked with who cheered me on in this process. EKU Housing & Residence Life, we created something truly special—thank you for helping me understand the love and joy you can find in the workplace when united in a common purpose. Thank you to the amazing supervisors I've had in my

iv

career who taught me leadership and responsibility start at the top trickle down creating a culture; Troy Noeldner who kept me in the field and showed me the trust of autonomy, Waz Miller and Gretchen Brockmann who taught me how to be a professional in the field, Mike Reagle who exemplifies servant leadership and pushed me to stretch and grow in ways I didn't know possible, and Kirsten Kennedy who has shown endless support.

Thank you to my dissertation committee members who took a chance on me and provided endless encouragement, support, and guidance. Judy Spain, you have been a north star continually pointing me in the right direction. You have been unfailing with encouragement and just the right amount of kick you into gear. Dr. Gill Hunter, thank you for being the positive sunshine in the room, even when asking difficult questions—I love the way you think and the enthusiasm you have for our students. Dr. Charles Hausman thank you for your patience with me as this ebbed and flowed and for your willingness to hop back on the train even after a hiatus. Thank you for taking time in your incredibly busy schedule to answer all my questions and encourage me to keep momentum. I couldn't have done this without you!

v

ABSTRACT

This study examined the effect of residential learning communities on the success of first-generation first-year students. Using the theoretical framework of Tinto's Conceptual Schema this study looked at the social and academic integration factors of living in a residential learning community through fall-to-fall retention rates and EKU GPA. A large institutional database was used to identify the first-generation first-year students in the study as well as their demographic differences. When controlling for gender, race, Pell Grant eligibility, high school GPA, and composite ACT scores, results showed participation in residential learning communities did not make a significant difference in the fall-to-fall retention rates or the EKU GPA of first-generation first-year students. It did show that gender, race, high school GPA and ACT composite scores were statistically significant in the fall-to-fall retention of first-generation first-year students. Results also showed gender, high school GPA and ACT composite scores were all statically significant covariates when looking a first-generation first-year students. Key GPA's.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER PAGE
Chapter One: Introduction1
Overview1
Mission, Vision, and Values3
Retention4
First-year Retention at Eastern Kentucky University6
First-Generation Students7
Learning Communities7
Residential Learning Communities8
Eastern Kentucky University Residential Learning Communities
Theoretical Framework
Purpose of the Study13
Rationale for the Study13
Significance of the Study14
Research Questions14
Definitions of Terms15
Chapter Two: Literature Review16
Retention16
Importance of Retention Numbers for Colleges and Universities
Economic Implications for Retention17

Tinto's Theory of Retention18
Terenzini, Pascarella, and Reason's Theories on Retention
Factors Contributing to Retention 22
High School Achievement 22
High Impact Strategies to Help Retention23
First-generation College Students
Implication of First-Generation College Students on the University Environment 24
Retention and Graduation Rates25
Specific Needs of First-Generation College Students
Challenges First-Generation College Students Face
Transition to College
Campus Involvement
Self-Efficacy
Institutional Support
Learning Communities
History of Learning Communities
Types of Learning Communities
Learning Community Structure
Residential Learning Communities
National Study of Living-Learning Programs (Residential Learning Communities)

	Residential Learning Communities Aimed at At-Risk Student Success	38
	Eastern Kentucky University Residential Learning Communities	39
Ch	apter Three: Methodology	47
	Purpose of the Study	47
	Context of the Study	48
	Eastern Kentucky Residential Learning Communities	50
	Sample	51
	Research Design and Analysis	54
	Variables	55
	Limitations of the Study	55
Ch	apter Four: Results	57
	Overview	57
	Crosstabulation of Gender by Residential Learning Community	58
	Crosstabulation of Racial Minority by Residential Learning Community	60
	Crosstabulation of Pell Grant Eligibility by Residential Learning Community	62
	Means High School GPA by Residential Learning Community	64
	Means ACT Composite Score by Residential Learning Community	65
	Crosstabulation of Gender by Retention	66
	Crosstabulation of Racial Minority by Retention	67
	Crosstabulation of Pell Grant Eligibility by Retention	69
	Means High School GPA by Retention	71

Means ACT Composite Score by Residential Learning Community
Differences in Retention between First generation, first-year College Students
Participating in Residential Learning Communities and First-Generation
College Students Not Participating in Residential Learning Communities 73
Means EKU GPA by Gender76
Means EKU GPA by Minority77
Means EKU GPA by Pell Eligibility77
Correlations EKU GPA with High School Achievement78
Differences in EKU GPA between First generation, first-year College Students
Participating in Residential Learning Communities and First-Generation
College Students Not Participating in Residential Learning Communities 79
Chapter Five: Discussion, Future Research, and Conclusion
Overview
Summary of the Study
Interpretation of Results
Research Question One
Research Question Two
Inconsistency with Previous Research
Why Are Residential Learning Communities Not Making a Difference?
Implications for Policy and Practice91
Residential Learning Communities91

Admissions	
Future Research	
Conclusion	
References	

List of Tables

Pag	le	Tabl
Residential Learning Communities at Eastern Kentucky	le 1.1	Tabl
University 2016 1		
Residential Learning Communities at Eastern Kentucky	ole 2.1	Tabl
University with Learning Outcomes 20164		
First generation, first-year Students in Residential Learning	ole 3.1	Tabl
Communities		
Gender Breakdown of First generation, first-year Students	ole 3.2	Tabl
Minority Students5	ole 3.3	Tabl
Pell Grant Eligible 5	ole 3.4	Tabl
Gender Residential Learning Community Crosstabulation5	ole 4.1	Tabl
Chi-Square Tests-Gender6	ole 4.2	Tabl
Minority Residential Learning Community Crosstabulation	le 4.3	Tabl
Chi-Square Tests-Race6	le 4.4	Tabl
Pell Eligible Residential Learning Community Crosstabulation	le 4.5	Tabl
Chi-Square Tests-Pell Eligible 6	le 4.6	Tabl
Means High School GPA by Residential Learning Community6	ole 4.7	Tabl
Means ACT Composite Score by Residential Learning Community	le 4.8	Tabl
Gender Retained Crosstabulation6	ole 4.9	Tab

Table 4.10	Chi-Square Tests-Gender Retained	. 67
Table 4.11	Minority Retained Crosstabulation	. 68
Table 4.12	Chi-Square Tests-Minority	. 69
Table 4.13	Pell Eligible Retained Crosstabulation	. 70
Table 4.14	Chi-Square Tests-Pell Grant Eligibility	. 71
Table 4.15	Means High School GPA by Retention	. 72
Table 4.16	Means ACT Composite Score by Retention	. 73
Table 4.17	Group Statistics: Fall-to-Fall Retention	. 74
Table 4.18	Tests of Between-Subjects Effects: Dependent Variable: Retention	. 75
Table 4.19	Estimated Marginal Means	. 76
Table 4.20	Means EKU GPA by Gender	. 77
Table 4.21	Means EKU GPA by Minority	. 77
Table 4.22	Means EKU GPA by Pell Eligible	. 78
Table 4.23	Correlations EKU GPA with High School Achievement	. 79
Table 4.24	Descriptive Statistics: Dependent Variable: EKU GPA	. 80
Table 4.25	Tests of Between-Subjects Effects	. 81
Table 4.26	Estimated Marginal Means	. 82

Chapter One: Introduction

Overview

Eastern Kentucky University (EKU) is a rural, regional, four-year, coeducational, public institution of higher education in Kentucky's Central Appalachian region. Located in Richmond, Kentucky, a growing city of 33,000 near the center of Kentucky, EKU serves over 16,000 students ("About EKU | Eastern Kentucky University | Eastern Kentucky University," n.d.). The University offers general and liberal arts programs as well as preprofessional and professional trainings. EKU has a variety of programs including associate, bachelor, master, and doctoral degrees in more than 100 majors. Eastern Kentucky University has six colleges consisting of the College of Letters, Arts, and Social Sciences; College of Science; College of Business and Technology; College of Education; College of Health Sciences; and the College of Justice and Safety.

Eastern Kentucky University enrolls students from all over the state of Kentucky, however, there are 22 specific counties in the southeastern part of the state which constitute the EKU Service Region. It is from these 22 counties that EKU has primarily drawn its student body. This region of the country has some of the lowest socioeconomic, poverty-stricken counties in the nation. Of the 22 counties in EKU's service region, 19 are classified as distressed ("EKU Service Region | Office Of Institutional Research | Eastern Kentucky University," n.d.). In 2014, the New York Times designated six of these counties among the 10 hardest places to live in the United states ("Where Are the Hardest Places to Live in the U.S.? - The New York Times," n.d.).

A strong Appalachian culture permeates the region making higher education a difficult choice for incoming students who must balance family issues, food insecurity, and lack of support from home. Students are trying to earn a degree while struggling against the constant pull of family wanting them to come home.

The Kentucky General Assembly established the Eastern Kentucky State Normal School in 1906. The Normal School commissioned Richmond and the campus of Central University, founded in 1874, as the site for Eastern Kentucky State Normal School. In 1922, the institution became the Eastern Kentucky State Normal School and Teachers College, a four-year degree granting institution. The first degrees were awarded in 1925. The Southern Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools awarded the school accreditation in 1928. In 1930, the school became the Eastern Kentucky State Teachers College ("About EKU | Eastern Kentucky University | Eastern Kentucky University," n.d.).

The state teacher's college continued to evolve and change as a graduate program was added in 1935. This led to the Master of Arts degree in Education. The word "Teachers" was removed from the institution's name in 1948 by the General Assembly. In 1966, the Kentucky state legislature officially renamed the school Eastern Kentucky University in a bill signed into law by Governor Edward T. Breathitt.

Eastern Kentucky University has increased in both the size of the student body and the size of the campus. Even with that growth, EKU's original mission of educating the people of Kentucky remains central to its core. EKU respects and values its history and is committed to its function of preparing quality teachers for the Commonwealth.

Its scope, however, has expanded into numerous programs and degrees enabling Eastern Kentucky University to serve an even wider population.

Mission, Vision, and Values

Eastern Kentucky University has a vision to be a "premier university dedicated to innovate student engagement and success, advancing Kentucky, and impacting the world" ("Vision, Mission And Values | Strategic Planning | Eastern Kentucky University," n.d.). The mission of EKU is written as follows:

As a school of opportunity, Eastern Kentucky University fosters personal growth and prepares students to contribute to the success and vitality of their communities, the Commonwealth, and the world. Eastern Kentucky University is committed to access, equal opportunity, dignity, respect, and inclusion for all people, as integral to a learning environment in which intellectual creativity and diversity thrives ("Vision, Mission And Values | Strategic Planning | Eastern Kentucky University," n.d.).

Eastern Kentucky University also has a set of values that lead the institution's philosophy. It is stated The University has stated that these "values shall permeate the mission and will be the fiber of the institution for it to achieve its vision ("Vision, Mission And Values | Strategic Planning | Eastern Kentucky University," n.d.). The values are as follows:

• *intellectual vitality,* which is characterized by knowledge, scholarly inquiry, creativity, critical thinking, and curiosity, all with a global perspective;

- sense of community, which is characterized by a supportive environment with strong relationships and a commitment to service, shared governance, collaboration, and unity of purpose;
- cultural competency, which is characterized by equitable opportunities and treatment, mutual respect, and the inclusion and celebration of diverse peoples and ideas;
- stewardship of place, by which the University enhances the intellectual capacity, economic vitality, environmental sustainability, and quality of life of the communities it serves;
- accountability, which is characterized by fiscal responsibility, operational transparency, and responsiveness to the needs of internal and external stakeholders; and
- excellence, which is achieved through integrity, continuous quality improvement, and a focused emphasis on the personal and professional growth of students, faculty, and staff ("Vision, Mission And Values | Strategic Planning | Eastern Kentucky University," n.d.).

Retention

Retaining students has become an increasingly critical issue in higher education (Alarcon & Edwards, 2013; Arensdorf & Naylor-Tincknell, 2016; Astin, 1975; Bonet & Walters, 2016; Brownell & Swaner, 2009; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005; Reason, 2003, 2009; Tinto, 1975, 1988, 1999; Veenstra, 2008). Retaining students refers to the rate at which students stay enrolled at the same institution from year to year. Most colleges and universities measure student retention in terms of fall to fall enrollment. When calculating retention rates, colleges and universities compare the number of students entering the institution in the fall cohort compared to the number of students who reenroll in the following fall semester (Goodman & Pascarella, 2006; Seidman, 2005; Sweat, 2016; Tampke & Durodoye, 2013; Tinto, 1999). Typically, colleges and universities concentrate on freshmen retention rates. The first year of enrollment at an institution has been proven to be when a student is most at risk for dropping out (Alarcon & Edwards, 2013; Arensdorf & Naylor-Tincknell, 2016; Astin, 1975; Bonet & Walters, 2016; Brownell & Swaner, 2009; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005; Reason, 2003, 2009; Tinto, 1975, 1988, 1999; Veenstra, 2008).

Student retention has become increasingly more important to institutions of higher education. It has been identified as a key metric for measuring success and progress at institutions (Millea, Willis, Elder, & Molina, 2018). Several states, including Kentucky, have moved to a performance-based funding model. This model allocates state funding to an institution based upon completion of specific performance measures, such as retention (Miao, n.d.). Retention has also become a critical issue to institutions of higher education because of the loss of revenue institutions incur if students are not retained.

There are a variety of factors which may lead to a student leaving their college or university. Students may leave due to fiscal reasons, lack of college readiness, not

feeling at home, dissatisfaction with a course or the institution, lack of community, or pursuit of a more attractive opportunity (Barclay, Barclay, Mims, Sargent, & Robertson, 2018; Tampke & Durodoye, 2013; Alarcon & Edwards, 2013). It is essential for colleges and universities to examine and understand factors contributing to a student's persistence in order to set programs in place to address retention gaps and assist in students' matriculation.

First-year Retention at Eastern Kentucky University

Eastern Kentucky University shares in the nation's struggle to retain students. Kentucky's Council on Postsecondary Education (CPE) has established retention goals for colleges and universities across the state. EKU's retention goal for first-year students is 75 percent. In 2016-2017, EKU had its highest retention rate for first-year students at 73.43 percent. This was slightly higher than most other public, four-year, regional institutions in the state. According to Kentucky's CPE, the retention rates for first year to second year retention in the fall of 2016 through the fall of 2017 at EKU's benchmark institutions in the state are as follows:

- Kentucky State University 67.70%
- Morehead State University 72.31%
- Murray State University 77.31%
- Northern Kentucky University 72.49%
- Western Kentucky University 69.88%

("First to Second Year Retention Rates—Ky. Council on Postsecondary Education," n.d.)

First-Generation Students

First-generation college students are defined as college students who do not have parents who graduated with a degree from an institution of higher education (Ishitani, 2003). Because of the unique challenges first-generation college students face, they are considered an at-risk population. First-generation college students are at a higher risk for drop out than their peers who have parents who have graduated with degrees from colleges and universities. According to Choy (2001), first-generation college students are more than twice as likely (23 percent versus 10 percent) to leave a 4-year institution before their second year than students with a parent(s) holding a bachelor's degree.

Most colleges and universities are seeing a significant increase in first-generation college students (Irlbeck, Adams, Akers, Burris, & Jones, 2014; Padgett, Johnson, & Pascarella, 2012). At Eastern Kentucky University, 893 students of the 2,300 first-year class were first-generation college students ("Factbook 2016-2017 | Office Of Institutional Research | Eastern Kentucky University," n.d.). Colleges and universities must find ways to address the specific needs of this unique population if they seek to retain these at-risk students.

Learning Communities

High-impact practices have been defined as practices which have been proven to impact students in positive ways including increasing student retention rates (Brownell & Swaner, 2009; McCuen@aacu.org, 2013; Seidman, 2005). Learning communities or

communities where students share one or more core classes have been proven to be a successful high-impact practice (Brower & Inkelas, 2010; Brownell & Swaner, 2009; Price, 2005; Seidman, 2005; Shapiro & Levine, 1999; Soria & Mitchell, 2015). Typically, these communities are small cohorts of 10-30 students who together take two or more linked courses, one of them being a student success seminar (Brownell & Swaner, 2009, Maher, 2005, Siedman, 2013, Sweat, 2016).

Students usually participate in learning communities during their first semester at an institution of higher education allowing them to transition to the institution with a group of peers. Although the types of learning communities vary, all learning communities have programmatic and academic expectations (Brownell & Swaner, 2009, Sweat 2016).

Residential Learning Communities

Many colleges and universities have added a residential component to learning communities (Arensdorf & Naylor-Tincknell, 2016; "Assessing Learning Outcomes in Living-Learning Pro...: Full Text Finder Results," n.d.; Brower & Inkelas, 2010; Daffron & Holland, 2009; Inkelas, Daver, Vogt, & Leonard, 2007; Inkelas, Vogt, Longerbeam, Owen, & Johnson, 2006; Wilson, Bjerke, & Martin, 2015). Students participating in residential learning communities are clustered together in a residence hall. These students share a space and participate in a common interest or academic program. Residential learning communities combine the benefits of living on campus, such as higher-grade point averages and higher retention rates, with the benefits of learning communities such as linked courses and faculty support (Brower & Inkelas, 2010; Hall & O'Neal, 2016; hobbins, Eisenbach, Jacobs, & Ritchie, 2017; Inkelas et al., 2007, 2006).

Residential learning communities can be thematic, academically focused, or have a learning community with linked academic courses. Most residential learning communities have programmatic requirements connected to their living experience. Programmatic requirements revolve around attendance at programs put on by the residential learning community staff. Residential learning communities also typically have faculty and staff partners linked to the community that help to foster engagement and success both inside and outside of the classroom (Price, 2005).

Eastern Kentucky University Residential Learning Communities

Eastern Kentucky University has 17 residential learning communities. They are a combination of academic and thematic communities. The communities are supported with both staff and academic partners. They have specific learning outcomes as well as a residential curriculum tied to each community. There is an application process for selection into each community, and students must apply for admittance. There are also residential learning community requirements a student must complete in order to be considered an active participant in the community.

Each residential learning community at Eastern Kentucky University is connected to academic partners who are faculty or staff committed to helping the students within the program succeed. The academic partners help with a variety of programmatic efforts for students within the residence halls as well as mentoring students within the

community. Prior to the beginning of the fall semester, academic partners attend a specific training designed to educate them on the intricacies of being an academic partner. Each academic partner volunteers to help with the community and is asked to attend both planning meetings and programming within the residence halls. They also help with move-in day and welcome week activities for the community.

Table 1.1 is a list of Eastern Kentucky University's residential learning communities, as well as the number of student participants in each community.

Table 1.1

Residential Learning	<i>Communities at Eastern</i>	Kentucky University	/ 2016
----------------------	-------------------------------	---------------------	--------

Residential Learning Community	Placement	Number of Participants
American Sign Language	Walters Hall	18
Colonel's Barracks	Telford Hall	19
Colonel Fan	Telford Hall	50
Colonel's First	Telford Hall	20
ConneXtions	Palmer Hall	59
Education	McGregor Hall	34
Fine and Creative Arts	Telford Hall	29
Flight Deck	Clay Hall	43
Forensic Science	Clay Hall	29
Global Village	Telford Hall	23
Honors	Burnam Hall	159
NOVA	Sullivan Hall	17

Table 1.1 (continued)			
Residential Learning Community	Placement	Number of Participants	
Outdoor Pursuits	Telford Hall	27	
Professional Golf Management	Keene Hall	17	
Sophomore Overdrive	South Hall	28	
Weekend Warriors	Telford Hall	14	

Theoretical Framework

College administrators must look at student retention through the framework of social and academic integration. Tinto created a conceptual Schema for Dropout from College diagraming reasons that students drop out of college (see figure 1.1) (Tinto, 1975). The Schema displays how students enter an institution with individual attributes. Both academic and social integration are essential to a student's commitment levels which affect a student's decision to drop out. Tinto cited family background, individual attributes and motivations, and pre-college schooling as intrinsic factors that affect how committed a student may be to staying at an institution when entering institutions of higher education (Tinto, 1975).

Terenzini and Reason (Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005) completed a conceptual framework which they presented at an annual meeting of the Association for the Study of Higher Education that furthered Tinto's research by showing an expanded integrated model for studying student outcomes. The model encourages higher education researchers to examine the multiple forces affecting college student outcomes in a broader way. It is based on the understanding that students enter college with an array of individual pre-college background characteristics, academic preparation and experiences, and social and personal dispositions and experiences. These individual attributes affect the likelihood of a student persisting through college.

The Terenzini and Reason (2005) framework also recognizes that a student's individual experiences affect the classroom experience, the out-of-class experiences,



Figure 1.1 Tinto's Conceptual Schema for Dropout from College

and the curricular experiences. The peer environment in which the student lives wraps around the individual student and gives a lens through which the student interacts and sees their experiences playing out. All of the experiences a student had before coming to the institution work together to create an individualized experience for each student once at the institution. Even if two students have the same in-class experience, because of their unique background and experiences coming to the institution, the students may view the in-class experience differently (Reason, 2009). This framework shows that persistence and retention are very personal and individualized experiences and must be treated as such by institutions of higher education.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study is to determine whether first-generation, first-year college students who participate in residential learning communities at Eastern Kentucky University retain at a higher rate than comparable first-generation, first-year college students who do not participate in residential learning communities. The study will also examine the efficacy of residential learning communities on first-generation, first-year college students at EKU by comparing grade point averages from first generation, first-year college students participating in residential learning communities to grade point averages from comparable first generation, first-year college students who do not participate first generation, first-year college students who participate first generation, first-year college students participating in residential learning communities to grade point averages from comparable first generation, first-year college students who do not participate in residential learning communities.

Rationale for the Study

This study will focus on the efficacy of residential learning communities in the success of first generation, first-year college students who participate. Presently there is a lack of research examining the effects of residential learning communities on first

generation, first-year college students, especially those enrolled at higher education institutions in rural areas. This study will provide a deeper understanding of the efficacy of residential learning communities at Eastern Kentucky University on first generation, first-year students and help address the gap in research surrounding this high impact practice on this at-risk population at a regional university. This study will also help other institutions who struggle in the retention of first generation, first-year college students.

Significance of the Study

Retaining students is critical to institutions of higher education. There is a substantial loss of tuition revenue as well as loss of state funding if students are not retained (Seidman, 2013, Sweat, 2016). First generation, first-year college students are an at-risk population for higher levels of dropout due to the unique challenges they face. Understanding how Eastern Kentucky University and other similarly situated four-year public regional institutions can improve retention rates for first generation, first-year students will enable these institutions to become more fiscally resilient and financially sound.

Research Questions

1. What is the effect on the fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, first-year college students participating in residential learning communities compared to the fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, first-year college students who do not participate in residential learning communities?

2. What is the effect of residential learning communities on the fall-to-fall grade point averages of first generation, first-year college students participating in residential learning communities compared to the fall-to-fall grade point averages of first generation, first-year college students who do not participate in residential learning communities?

Definitions of Terms

First-Generation College Students—college students whose parents did not graduate from college.

First-Year College Students—students who are enrolled in their first year of college. *High Impact Practices*—practices that affect student engagement and have had positive impacts for students participating.

Learning Community—a community where students are scheduled together in at least one or more classes assigned to faculty members designated to support and facilitate building community.

Residential Learning Community—a community of students who live together in a shared living space, such as a residence hall, and who share a common interest or academic program.

Retention—refers to the rate students stay enrolled at the same institution from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

Retention

According to the National Center for Education Statistics ("Digest of Education Statistics, 2016," n.d.), more than 20.4 million students were expected to attend American colleges and universities in 2017. Unfortunately, if current retention rates remain the same, only 59 percent of those students will graduate with a college degree within six years. At institutions with open admissions, 48 percent of incoming freshmen will drop out before their sophomore year ("The Condition of Education— Postsecondary Education—Postsecondary Environments and Characteristics— Characteristics of Postsecondary Students—Indicator April (2017)," n.d.). At regional institutions in the state of Kentucky, the retention rate of first year students is 68 percent. This statistic highlights one of the biggest problems plaguing colleges and universities, the persistence and retention of its students. Because of the loss of revenue and state funding institutions incur if students are not retained, retaining students is critical. (Seidman, 2013).

Importance of Retention Numbers for Colleges and Universities

Higher education is in uncharted times. Funding sources for colleges and universities from both federal and state governments have dwindled to all-time lows (Mitchell, Palacios, & Leachman, 2014). The funding still awarded in some states is linked to performance-based initiatives. Colleges and universities must qualify for funding based on achieving metrics set forth by the government. In these situations,

institutions often must compete against their own numbers by surpassing those numbers from the prior year. In most cases, they also have to compete against other institutions in the same state (McLendon & Hearn, 2013). Many of these numbers and metrics are linked to student retention and graduation rates. Colleges and universities not achieving these prescribed metrics will be further penalized with yet more funding cuts. Because of this funding structure, colleges and universities must place further emphasis on student success. Institutions need to work diligently to identify sources of attrition while seeking to increase practices that will help retain students.

Monetarily, it benefits a university to retain students. Colleges and universities rely upon students as a source of revenue. If an institution has a low retention rate, that institution must work to replace the students and the revenues it is losing. Seeking out new students takes resources that the college or university could use elsewhere (Alarcon & Edwards, 2013).

Economic Implications for Retention

Students attend colleges and universities for a variety of reasons. One of these reasons is financial motivation and the promise of better employment opportunities upon attaining a degree. The United States Bureau of Labor Statistics reports college graduates had a lower unemployment rate (2.7%) than those individuals with a high school diploma (5.2%). The 2016 report also states that college graduates made around \$1,156 a week while individuals with a high school diploma earned just \$692 a week ("Unemployment rates and earnings by educational attainment," n.d.). Being able to

graduate with a college degree will nearly double a student's estimated lifetime earnings (Alarcon & Edwards, 2013).

By 2020, it is estimated that 57 percent of all jobs in Kentucky will require certifications or a college degree. In 2015, only 21.5 percent of adults in Kentucky had either an associate's degree or higher (U.S. Census Bureau, 2015). The lack of skill and education in the Kentucky workforce could cause industries to leave the state to find a better skilled and educated employment market. For people seeking employment, the lack of industries would reduce the economic appeal of a state that is already struggling economically.

Tinto's Theory of Retention

Research pertaining to retention in higher education spans more than 70 years (Braxton, 2000). Tinto's theory of retention has been highly influential and widely discussed. He proposed a sociological approach to retention that focused on the firstyear student because there was a higher likelihood of a first-year student dropping out of college compared to his/her upperclassman peers.

According to Tinto (1975), there are many factors that contribute to a student dropping out of college. Tinto's theory identified that a student's background characteristics could affect a student's retention. The experiences and preparation a student had could be used to predict whether a student would struggle with transition to a college or university. He also concluded that a student's expectational and motivational attributes, such as their institutional commitment, peer group, faculty interactions, and their social integration, affect a student's decision to stay in school. Tinto concluded these are critical elements to retention.

Tinto created a conceptual schema diagraming reasons for student dropout from college. The schema shows how both the academic and social system interact with various commitments and a student's background which all merge to contribute to a student's decision to continue with their education. He cited family background, individual attributes and motivations, and pre-college schooling as intrinsic factors that affect how committed a student may be to staying after arriving at an institution of higher education (Tinto, 1975).

Tinto emphasized that a student must go through a process of separation from their home environment in order to become part of their new college community. This stage of separation is critical for students to be able to form new bonds and relationships. This stage is particularly difficult for most first-generation college students. They sometimes lack the parental support needed to fully integrate into their new community.

Once arriving at an institution, Tinto concluded, a student must acknowledge the academic and social sides of a college or university as these aspects contribute to the student's willingness to stay at the institution. A student's grade performance, as well as their intellectual development, contribute to the academic system while their peergroup and faculty interactions affect the social system. Each of these systems have an integration that students feel at the institution. How tightly a student is integrated

directly correlates to the level of commitment they feel when trying to achieve their education goals as well as their commitment to that specific institution. According to Tinto, both academic and social integration affect a student's decision to drop out (Tinto, 1975).

The second part of Tinto's theory (1988) concentrated on the transition phase. As a student enters college and begins their transition, they need to have the skills that will help them adjust to their new environment. Without these skills, students can start to doubt themselves and their sense of belonging at their institution. Programs, such as residential learning communities, are designed to help support students in this transition and are essential to helping students be successful.

Terenzini, Pascarella, and Reason's Theories on Retention

In 1978, Terenzini and Pascarella, testing Tinto's model, studied three sets of variables to determine how they affected a student's ability to be successful in persisting: sociodemographic information, academic preparation and performance, and student dispositions (Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005). All of these traits fell into the categories Tinto outlined as affecting a student's commitment to college which, in turn, affects a student's ability to transition to college.

The researchers also found social and academic integration were statically significant on a student's ability to persist. The relationships students formed with their peers and with their faculty and staff had significant impact on their retention. Terenzini and Pascarella (2005) concluded that "what happens to a student after
matriculation may be more important in subsequent voluntary attrition among freshmen than are attributes the student brings to college" (p.362). While attributes and traits students have prior to entering college are a predictor of retention, the experiences they have once at the institution can greatly impact a student's decision to remain in school. These interactions, relationships, and experiences can mitigate some of the high at-risk predictors students may have upon entering college.

Terenzini and Reason (Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005) completed a conceptual framework that furthered Tinto's research by showing a further integrated model for studying student outcomes. The model encourages higher education researchers to look more broadly at the multiple forces affecting college student outcomes. The framework is based on the understanding that students enter college with an array of pre-college background characteristics, academic preparation and experiences, and social and personal dispositions and experiences. These attributes affect the likelihood of a student persisting through college.

This framework also recognizes that a student's individual experiences affect the classroom experience, the out-of-class experiences, as well as the curricular experiences. These all work together to create an individualized experience for each student. Even if two students have the same in class experience, because of their individual student backgrounds, the experience may be viewed differently (Reason, 2009). This framework shows persistence and retention is a very personal and individualized experience and must be treated as such by colleges and universities.

Factors Contributing to Retention

There are many reasons why students may not persist from fall to fall. However, research has shown retention is most likely influenced by strong relationships between socioeconomic status, high school GPA, and college assessment entry scores combined with institutional commitment, academic goals, social support, and academic self-confidence (Alarcon & Edwards, 2013; Barclay, Barclay, Mims, Sargent, & Robertson, 2018; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005; Terenzini, Springer, Yaeger, Pascarella, & Nora, 1996; Tinto, 1988). Some of these retention predictors are brought with the student as they graduate from high school and come to the institution. However, according to Barefoot (2014), many students are not retained because of experiences that happen on campus once a student arrives. A student's ability to retain is affected by financial instability which is a student's ability to continue to pay for college. It is also affected by the measure of how quickly a student acclimates to the institution. How a student feels about the institution as well as boredom and the lack of academic challenge can also affect student retention (Sweat, 2016).

High School Achievement

Two of the strongest predictors of student retention are high school grade point average and college admission test scores (Reason, 2003; Sweat, 2016; Westrick, Le, Robbins, Radunzel, & Schmidt, 2015). Students having an "A" grade point average are seven times as likely to retain and graduate in four years with a degree than those students earning a "C" average in high school (Reason, 2003; Sweat, 2016; Westrick et al., 2015). Students having a higher-grade point average are thought to be more academically prepared to enter college.

When looking at retention rates, college admissions test scores also have significance. A student who has SAT/ACT scores in the highest scoring bracket are six times more likely to graduate with a degree in four years that students who scored in the lowest bracket (Reason, 2001). These test scores contribute to the academic readiness and achievement of a student which are directly related to a student's retention rate. Combined with high school grade point average, college admission test scores are the highest predictor of student retention rates.

High Impact Strategies to Help Retention

Exploring how to better engage students in an individualized way is one method colleges and universities are trying in order to improve their retention numbers. The National Leadership Council for Liberal Education and America's Promise (LEAP) identified a number of high impact practices that affect student engagement and have had positive impacts for students participating (Brownell & Swaner, 2009). Kuh (2008) identifies 10 high impact retention and engagement practices colleges and universities can implement to help students retain at higher rates. These 10 high impact practices are: first-year seminars, common intellectual experiences, learning communities, writing-intensive courses, collaborative assignments and projects, undergraduate research, diversity/global learning, service learning and community-based learning,

internships, and capstone courses and projects. These high impact practices have been tested and proven successful in colleges and universities around the nation (Kuh, 2008).

High impact practices serving first year students, such as first-year seminars and experiences as well as learning communities, have been proven to add value to the student experience and lead to a range of positive outcomes for all students, and especially for those students in underserved and at-risk populations.

First-generation College Students

First-generation college students have been identified as a unique population of underserved students who are at high risk of dropping out of college before completing their first year. First-generation college students are those students whose parents did not graduate from college (Cho, Hudley, Lee, Barry, & Kelly, 2008; Terenzini et al., 1996). Most colleges and universities are seeing a significant increase in first-generation college students (Irlbeck et al., 2014; Padgett et al., 2012). At Eastern Kentucky University in 2016, 893 students of the 2,300 first-year class were first-generation college students.

Implication of First-Generation College Students on the University Environment

With the number of first-generation college students continuing to rise at higher education institutions, colleges and universities must understand what challenges this unique at-risk population are facing. Abundant research has been conducted pertaining to this group of students. Most of this research can be framed within three categories; precollege expectations, the transition from high school to college, and persistence during college (Terenzini, Springer, Yaeger, Pascarella, & Nora, 1996). Each of these

categories can be examined to assist an institution gain understanding of what challenges first-generation college students are facing and how to better support this population.

Retention and Graduation Rates

The specific challenges first-generation college students experience often lead to lower retention rates than for those students who are not first-generation college students. According to Demetriou et al. "nearly 90% of first-generation college students enrolled in colleges and universities in the United States fail to graduate within 6 years of enrollment" (Demetriou, Meece, Eaker-Rich, & Powell, 2017)(p 19). Choy (2001) found that first-generation college students were more than twice as likely (23 percent versus 10 percent) to leave a 4-year institution before their second year than students with a parent(s) holding a bachelor's degree.

Graduation rates of first-generation college students, especially those who are considered low-income, are some of the lowest in the nation. Engle & Tinto (2008) found 34% of low-income, first-generation college students earned a four-year degree in six years or less compared to 66% of low-income students who are not first-generation college students.

Specific Needs of First-Generation College Students

Challenges First-Generation College Students Face

First-generation college students have challenges and barriers which pertain specifically to this unique population. First-generation college students are more likely to come from a low socioeconomic status, live in a non-English speaking home, and be a minority (Cho et Al, 2008). These challenges and barriers make persistence through graduation more difficult for first-generation students than those students who have one or more parent who graduated college ("Finding My Way," 2017; Garcia, 2010; Irlbeck et al., 2014, 2014; McLean, 2013; Padgett et al., 2012; Pascarella, Pierson, Wolniak, & Terenzini, 2004; Peabody, Hutchens, Lewis, & Deffendall, 2011; Terenzini et al., 1996).

Stebleton and Soria (2012) analyzed survey data from 58,000 first-generation college students from six research universities. These results indicated first-generation students had high occurrences of challenges preventing their academic success. These challenges included: poor English and math skills, poor study skills, emotional issues, family issues, and a significant number of work hours.

First-generation college students are typically not as prepared academically as their traditional student counterparts (Pascarella et al., 2004; Terenzini et al., 1996). Because of the lack of their parents' collegiate experience, they may feel less prepared for the academic rigor they will find in the college classroom (Padgett et all., 2012, Wilson, 2012). They have lower college admission test scores and lower high school GPAs. Some research suggests they have lower critical thinking abilities, less support from their family to attend college, and less interaction with their high school teachers (Ishitani, 2003).

Transition to College

Research has shown that first-generation colleges students have a more difficult time with their transition to college than their traditional peers (Pascarella, Pierson, Wolniak, & Terenzini, 2004). When a first-generation college student comes to a college or university, it is a completely different cultural experience. They are not just coming to college, they are entering an academic, cultural environment that often has unspoken rules and a variety of cultural norms that are foreign to a first-generation college student (Hopkins, 2011). They often lack important time management and study skills. They also have a more difficult time managing the administrative aspects of academic life, including meeting with professors and advisors, choosing a major, and registering for classes (Irlbeck et al., 2014).

As a first-generation college student transitions to college, they are not only faced with all the anxieties of traditional students, but they are also faced with the struggle of reconciling conflicting family roles and family membership because of the lack of understanding from their childhood support system. Terenzni (Terenzini et al., 1996), stated that, "it is only when we see that mobility involves not just gain but loss....that we can begin to understand the attendant periods of confusion, conflict, isolation, and even anguish that first-generation students report here" (p. 2). Because attending college is a different experience that is unknown to their families, it can be an experience that separates first-generation college students from some of the only support structures they have known.

Campus Involvement

First-generation college students are often less involved in campus life which can cause a lack of connection to the campus. Financial needs may limit involvement on campus which may hinder success (Irlbeck et al., 2014). Many first-generation college students need to work while in school in order to support themselves and in some cases their families back home. *Busy work* schedules limit these students' ability to engage in the full range of campus activities offered and can leave the student less involved (Irlbeck et al., 2014).

Self-Efficacy

Vuong, Brown-Welty, and Tracz (2010) studied the effects of self-efficacy on the academic success of first-generation college students. Five California state universities administered a survey to their students resulting in 1,291 students responding. Of those, 441 were first-generation college sophomores. The study showed self-efficacy in academic coursework was a significant predictor of academic success for first-generation college students. Results showed first-generation college students had lower grade point averages from their previous term and lower overall GPA's when compared to non-first-generation college students.

Institutional Support

College and university administrators must understand the various challenges first-generation college students face in order to create and implement programs and support services focused on first-generation college student needs (Vuong et al., 2010).

Finding ways to assist and support first-generation college students in persisting through their first year of college is essential for institutions, and they must devote resources to programs and support structures to help first-generation students succeed.

Often, the current support systems colleges and universities have in place fail to meet all the specific needs first-generation college students have when transitioning to college (Folger, Carter, & Chase, 2004, Wilson, 2013). Studies have suggested that additional support programs for first-generation students, especially during their initial adjustment to the university, will help them transition successfully (Stebleton & Soria, 2012).

Administrators must also be mindful of the lack of institutional knowledge firstgeneration college students experience. Typically, this population does not know about services offered at the institution which can impact their ability to receive assistance with obstacles they are facing. Stebleton & Soria (2012) suggest administrators initiate discussions with first-generation college students about their collegiate experience to provide information about academic support and social opportunities to help with their transition and integration to college.

Being able to identify ways to help first-generation college students work through their specific challenges and barriers will help improve retention and graduation rates. Colleges and universities cannot ignore the specific needs of this population of students if they want them to persist through graduation. Support

structures and high impact practices must be employed if colleges and universities want first-generation college students to succeed.

Learning Communities

Participation in a learning community has been identified as a high impact practice increasing retention rates and student engagement. Because of this, many colleges and universities are implementing learning community programs (Sweat, 2016, Rohli & Rogge, 2012).

Learning communities have taken on many different forms. However, at their most basic form, a learning community is where students are linked together in at least one or more classes (Brownell & Swaner, 2009). Learning communities can link enough courses to make up a student's full schedule or simply a link between an orientation seminar and an additional general education course. They can be combined with advising or first year courses in order to integrate both the academic and social sides of a collegiate experience. Learning communities provide a platform for students to come together in organized and planned ways. This can make it easier for students to integrate socially, succeed academically, and form bonds within their community (Sweat, 2016, Seidman 2013).

Research has shown that effective learning communities are those which create positive classroom environments, have clear connections between linked courses and assignments, and faculty members who have clear and visible communication between the linked courses (Brownell & Swaner, 2009). Activities and assignments in linked

courses are collaborative. Faculty involvement in a student's academic experience can be linked to a student's persistence. Research shows that when faculty and students interact both inside and outside of the classroom it improves persistence (Purdie & Rosser, 2011). Learning communities foster environments where faculty involvement in the student community is not only encouraged but required. This interaction supports intentional relationships between faculty and students which fosters persistence.

History of Learning Communities

Learning communities have a long history in higher education. Alexander Meiklejohn introduced the "Experimental College" in the 1920's at the University of Wisconsin in reaction to the increased disciplinary specialization and fragmentation of the undergraduate curriculum (Smith, 2001). The Experimental College had an integrated curriculum designed to help students explore the values and idea of democracy and was intentionally designed to facilitate faculty-student interaction (Smith, 2001). It was a two-year program during which students and faculty examined classic Greek literature in their first year and compared it to contemporary American literature in their second year (Talburt & Boyles, 2005). The students had summer projects connecting their first and second years.

Higher education systems nearly doubled in size during the 1960's (Smith, 2001). Institutions were experimenting with structure within higher education and cluster colleges were formed. These cluster and sub-colleges were created to break students into smaller communities and promote socialization to university life. Sometimes these

were interdisciplinary, however, Tussman was the first faculty member to fully utilize an integrated curriculum at Evergreen State College (Smith, 2001). The momentum for learning communities greatly increased when the Washington Center for Undergraduate Education at Evergreen State College was created in 1985.

In the early 1990's, Tinto studied learning communities and collaborative learning as a way to combat student dropout rates and increase retention. Tinto's results clearly demonstrated learning community effectiveness (Tinto, 2003). Currently, learning communities have become a staple at many colleges and universities around the country.

Types of Learning Communities

The literature acknowledges many formats of learning communities, but generally learning communities can be divided into five categories. These categories are: linked courses, learning clusters, freshmen interest groups, federated learning communities, and coordinated study programs (Price, 2005, Stassen, 2003). Each of these categories could have a residential component linked to them.

Linked Courses

Learning communities utilize linked courses to connect students in at least two courses which are independent of each other and have their own faculty, but share a common group of students (Stassen, 2003). Linked courses are typically block scheduled, meaning the courses are built together into the schedule. Because of this,

students building a schedule would sign up for the learning community instead of individual courses. Dropping one course would drop the other course as well. This learning community tends to link a content-based course with a skills-based course (Sweat, 2016).

Learning Clusters

Learning clusters are communities in which courses are linked by content. Learning clusters typically have four or five courses scheduled together. Because they are content based, numerous academic colleges use learning clusters (Price, 2005; Sweat, 2016).

Freshmen Interest Groups

Freshmen interest groups are learning communities that link courses by a common theme (Staussen, 2003). The courses typically work with a theme, issue, or historical period. Part of a learning cluster curriculum involves a seminar component, planned social events, or field trips (Sweat, 2016).

Federated Learning Communities

Federated learning communities allow a cohort of students to take part in themed based courses in addition to a three-credit hour seminar taught by a Master Learner. In these learning communities, the faculty serves as the linchpin. The Master Learner is a professor from a different college or area of study who takes the courses along with the students and then facilitates the seminar. This type of learning community highlights the integration of ideas from the other classes into the seminar (Sweat, 2016).

Coordinated Study Programs

Coordinated studies programs link all course credits for a common group of students associated with an integrated, theme-based, interdisciplinary curriculum (Stassen, 2003). An example of this type of learning community would be a study abroad program for students.

Learning Community Structure

According to Garrison & Vaughan (2008), learning communities must have three main elements in order to affect the educational experience: a social presence, a cognitive presence, and a teaching presence. Although separate elements, when working together these elements provide a structure where student engagement can occur. When students are engaged, retention improves (Astin, 1984).

The first element, social presence, is based a student's sense of belonging. The student needs to feel part of the campus community (Garrison & Vaughan, 2008, Sweat, 2016). Social context, interactivity, and privacy all play into social presence. Social context is the perception of the learning community experience by the individual student. Interactivity is when the student becomes involved in the community and their sense of participation. A sense of privacy and trust is crucial to social presence as the group is forming social relationships and there are social expectations involved.

The second element, cognitive presence, refers to the ability to find a solution when students are presented with a problem (Garrison & Vaughan, 2008, Sweat, 2016). There are four phases to cognitive presence: triggering event, exploration, synthesis, and resolution. When a problem or question is recognized, it is a triggering event. Exploration occurs when the group expresses ideas, opinions, and brainstorms together for solutions. Synthesis happens when ideas are summarized, and the group identifies a solution. Resolution refers to when the group comes to a consensus about what the solution should be.

The third element, teaching presence, is the process by which students are educated though the facilitation of coursework and faculty direction (Garrison & Vaughan, 2008, Sweat, 2016). The "teacher" is an active member of the learning community providing both challenge and support to students. The teacher provides additional support when necessary.

Residential Learning Communities

Studies have shown residential learning communities can be particularly effective at improving retention and persistence because the residential learning community focuses on integrating students with each other as well as with the campus community (Hall & O'Neal, 2016). In this aspect, residential learning communities affect both the social and academic integration of a student.

Residential learning communities further connect learning community students who are taking classes together by having them live together in a residence hall community (Wilson, Bjerke, & Martin, 2015). This connection provides an added layer of community to participating students. According to Inkelas, Vogt, Longerbeam, Owen, & Johnson (2006), "students in [Living Learning] programs are more likely to persist, exhibit stronger academic achievement, interact with faculty, and engage in a more intellectual residence hall atmosphere than students in traditional residence halls" (p. 41).

Successful residential learning communities need to have clear learning objectives with an academic focus (Brower & Inkelas, 2010). At their best, residential learning communities are designed to create a sense of community that allows for greater faculty and peer interaction, increased opportunities for coordinated activities, and a socially and academically supportive residential living environment (Inkelas, Daver, Vogt, & Leonard, 2007). Strong partnerships between academic and residential or housing programs become critical to a successful residential learning community.

When a residential learning community program is strong, the impacts on its participants can be long-lasting. Bower and Inkelas (2010) found that participants, after only one year in a residential learning community experience, had higher levels of academic self-confidence, were more likely to mentor other students, and remained more committed to civic engagement (Brower & Inkelas, 2010).

National Study of Living-Learning Programs (Residential Learning Communities)

In 2007, the National Study of Living-Learning Programs did a multi-institutional study of living-learning programs. The study included 49 colleges and universities across

the United States. The study outlined seven outcome areas where there were statistically significant results: social and academic transition; intellectual abilities and growth; student's confidence in academic, collegiate, and professional success; experiences with alcohol use; diversity appreciation, civic engagement and sense of belonging; college grade point average; and future plans.

Results of this study indicated students who participated in residential learning communities:

- Indicated social and academic transition to college easier than their sample peers.
- Reported significantly more growth in their critical thinking/analysis abilities and their ability to apply knowledge gained in one arena to another than their sample peers.
- Reported better confidence in college success than their sample peers.
- Were less likely to drink alcohol than their sample peers.
- Were more civically engaged than their sample peers.
- Had a stronger overall sense of belonging than their sample peers.
- Represented the greatest proportion of students in the grade point average category of 3.5-4.0.
- Were more likely to participate in community service, volunteer work, and service learning; research with a professor; a leadership position; study

abroad; independent research; a self-designed major; or a culminating senior experience than their sample peers.

("ACUHO-I Library—View Catalog Record," 2017)

This study showed that adding a residential component to learning communities positively impacted students in many ways including gains in retention numbers.

Residential Learning Communities Aimed at At-Risk Student Success

While there have been studies on the effect residential learning communities have on student success, the research has been broad and has not explored the influence residential learning communities can have on special at-risk populations such as first-generation students.

Inkelas, Daver, Vogt, and Leonard (2007) studied the effect of residential learning communities on the academic and social transition of first-generation college students. Their findings provided evidence that participation in a residential learning community is beneficial for first-generation college students. Students had a statistically significant higher estimate of ease with academic and social transition than their firstgeneration peers who did not participate in a residential learning program. However, this study did not measure whether, and how, residential learning communities affect retention numbers and grade point averages.

Even less is known about the efficacy of residential learning communities on the retention of first-generation college students. However, Hall and O'Neal (2016) did a study at Indiana University Southeast where they found that all students thought their

residential learning community experience was a positive one. Living together helped them form bonds as a community and led to them being able to have real conversations. The students also noted that the residential learning community helped in their transition from high school to college (Hall & O'Neal 2016). The same study identified that the students in the residential learning community performed better academically and retained at a higher rate. However, the limitations of this study narrow the validity and generalizability of the research findings.

Eastern Kentucky University Residential Learning Communities

Residential learning communities at Eastern Kentucky University have evolved over the years. When first started in the early 2000's, residential learning communities were purely a programmatic way to connect students in the residence halls. Students participating in residential learning communities had to complete specific programmatic elements to remain as an active participant in the community. These elements mainly revolved around the social and community aspects of living in a residence hall and meeting with staff in order to remain in good standing within the community. Although communities had faculty and staff learning partners who helped to plan programs within the residence halls, the relationship was informal and voluntary. This led to decreased involvement and buy-in from students, staff, and academic learning partners.

Although the residential learning community concept has been through many iterations, since the beginning, the basis of academic and social integration has been at the heart. Academic partners have been essential to the development and

implementation of the residential learning communities. Historically, however, there has been difficulty finding committed partners in this endeavor.

Starting in 2016, faculty and staff participating in residential learning communities must commit to the community and are given a Memorandum of Understanding. The Memoranda of Understanding is a facilitated agreement between Eastern Kentucky University Housing and Residence Life and the academic partners who work to support residential learning communities. Academic partners dedicate two to four hours per month supporting the programmatic efforts of the community. This includes participation in at least one program per month, attending monthly residential learning community meetings, planning and implementing a kickoff event, and helping in the recruitment and marketing of the program. With the creation of the Memorandums of Understanding, these partnerships have grown into a full collaboration where academic partners are invested, involved, and committed to the residential learning community's success.

Eastern Kentucky University Housing and Residence Life also has responsibilities communicated in the Memorandum of Understanding. EKU Housing and Residence Life assigns students into residential learning communities and is responsible for the upkeep of the properties. A live-in paraprofessional staff member is assigned to provide daily support and guidance for student participants. Housing also assigns a full-time professional staff member to each residential learning community. This staff member

lives in the residence hall and is there to manage the day-to-day operation of the community as well as to promote the holistic well-being of the participants.

Residential learning communities at Eastern Kentucky University help students create communities that foster social integration. Combined with academic support given by academic partners, and life skills being taught by staff, the residential learning community provides a support network for participants. This is crucial for firstgeneration college students. Belonging to such a group can help enhance and quicken their transition to college while providing the support necessary to succeed.

Each residential learning community at Eastern Kentucky University has student learning outcomes around which curriculum and programming are designed. These learning outcomes guide the program and give all faculty and staff direction.

Table 2.1 lists Eastern Kentucky University's residential learning communities and the learning outcomes for each community.

Table 2.1

Desidential Learning

Residential Learning Communities at Eastern Kentucky Uni	versity with Learning
Outcomes 2016	

Community	Learning Outcomes	
American Sign Language	 Identify and connect with at least four faculty/staff members from the ASLIE department Locate four campus resources that will contribute to their student success Identify a supportive network of peers with similar personal interests 	

Table 2.1	(continued)
-----------	-------------

Residential Learning Community	Learning Outcomes	
	 Engage with the larger deaf community through community outreach and better ASL communication skills Analyze professional and personal goals as it relates to the ASL experience 	
Colonel's Barracks	 Identify and connect with at least four faculty/staff/alumni of the ROTC Program at EKU Locate four campus or community resources that will contribute to their student success Summarize the ideals of the ROTC program and how it contributes to their future goals Explain how the ROTC experience will affect their collegiate career and beyond 	
Colonel Fan	 Identify and connect with at least four faculty/staff/alumni at EKU Locate four campus and/or community resources that will contribute to their student success Develop a strong network of peers with similar personal and career interests Attend at least four EKU athletic events 	
Colonel's First	 Identify and connect with at least six faculty/staff/peer mentor at EKU Engage in at least four campus and/or community resources that will contribute to their student success Appreciate the perspective of people from backgrounds different from your own Develop a comprehensive action plan for their academic success during college 	
ConneXtions	 Identify and connect with at least four faculty/staff/alumni at EKU 	

Table 2.1 (continued)

Residential Learning Community	Learning Outcomes	
	 Locate four campus and/or community resources that will contribute to their student success Develop a strong network of peers with similar personal and career interests Describe their leadership style and how it relates to their collegiate experience 	
Education	 Identify and connect with at least four faculty/staff/alumni from the Education department Locate four campus resources that will contribute to their student success Analyze professional and personal goals as it relates to the Education LLC experience Recognize the perspective of people with backgrounds different from your own 	
Fine and Creative Arts	 Identify and connect with at least four faculty/staff/alumni from fine and creative arts Locate four campus resources that will contribute to their student success Analyze professional and personal goals as it relates to the Fine and Creative Arts LLC experience Recognize the perspective of people with backgrounds different from your own 	
Flight Deck	 Identify at least four faculty or staff members from the College of Justice and Safety Locate four campus resources that will contribute to their student success Research at least two potential careers in the Justice and Safety field Recognize the perspective of people with backgrounds different from your own 	

Table 2.1 (continue

Residential Learning Community	Learning Outcomes
Forensic Science	 Identify and connect with at least three alumni and/or professionals Identify and connect with at least three faculty/professional lecturers from the Forensic Science program Research at least two potential careers in the Forensic Science field Analyze professional and personal goals as it relates to the forensic science experience Identify a supportive network of peers
Global Village	 Identify and connect with at least five faculty/staff/alumni at EKU Appreciate the perspective of people from backgrounds different from your own Facilitate great campus and community engagement in global issues Describe their engagement in international perspectives and how it relates to their collegiate experience
Honors	 Develop positive relationships at least four faculty or staff members from the Honors program Locate four campus and/or community resources that will contribute to their student success Demonstrate how the Honors Program will affect their college experience Examine how the perspectives of others are different from their own
Justice & Safety	 Identify at least four faculty or staff members from the College of Justice and Safety Locate four campus resources that will contribute to their student success

Table 2.1	(continued)
-----------	-------------

Residential Learning Community	Learning Outcomes
	 Research at least two potential careers in the Justice and Safety field Recognize the perspective of people with backgrounds different from your own
NOVA	 Identify and connect with at least four faculty/staff members from Eastern Kentucky University Locate four campus or community resources that will contribute to their student success Demonstrate how their NOVA experience will affect their collegiate career Develop community bonds and EKU pride with fellow residents, Housing staff and NOVA staff
Outdoor Pursuits	 Identify and connect with at least four faculty/staff members from Eastern Kentucky University Locate four campus or community resources that will contribute to their student success Engage with five outdoor resources in the Richmond/Lexington/Central Kentucky communities Design and implement an outdoor recreation program for peers
Professional Golf Management	 Identify and connect with at least three alumni and/or professionals Develop positive relationships with at least four faculty members from Professional Golf Management Research at least two potential careers in the Professional Golf Management field Locate four campus resources, including one outside of Professional Golf Management that will contribute to their student success

Table 2.1 (continued)

Residential Learning Community	Learning Outcomes	
Sophomore Overdrive	 Identify and connect with at least four faculty/staff/alumni at EKU Locate four campus resources that will contribute to their success as a second-year student Research, identify, and justify at least two different career paths associated with their academic/personal passions Discuss how leadership and service affects their collegiate career 	
Weekend Warriors	 Identify and connect with at least four faculty/staff/alumni at EKU Locate four campus resources that will contribute to their success as a second-year student Develop a strong network of peers with similar personal and career interests Attend at least four weekend programs at EKU 	

Chapter Three: Methodology

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study is to determine whether first generation, first-year college students who participate in residential learning communities at Eastern Kentucky University retain at a higher rate than comparable first generation, first-year college students who do not participate in residential learning communities. The study also examines the efficacy of residential learning communities on first generation, first-year college students at Eastern Kentucky University by comparing grade point averages from first generation, first-year college students to grade point averages from comparable first generation, first-year college students who do not participate in residential participating in residential learning communities to grade point averages from comparable first generation, first-year college students who do not participate in residential learning communities.

Colleges and universities are making greater efforts to increase fall to fall retention rates. In that pursuit, they utilize numerous resources and fund countless programs to help support student success. Residential learning communities can impact both academic and social integration in a positive way leading to greater retention rates and overall student success (Brower & Inkelas, 2010; Inkelas et al., 2007; Soria & Mitchell, 2015).

The following questions will be explored.

1. What is the effect on the fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, first-year college students participating in residential learning communities compared to

the fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, first-year college students who do not participate in residential learning communities?

2. What is the effect of residential learning communities on the fall-to-fall grade point averages of first generation, first-year college students participating in residential learning communities compared to the fall-to-fall grade point averages of first generation, first-year college students who do not participate in residential learning communities?

Context of the Study

This study took place at Eastern Kentucky University, a rural, mid-sized, regional, comprehensive university located in Richmond, Kentucky. According to EKU's Office of Institutional Research, enrollment during the fall of 2016 hit an all-time high for a total of 16,881 students, ("Factbook 2016-2017 | Office Of Institutional Research | Eastern Kentucky University," n.d.). Of the 16,881 enrolled students, 14,454 students were from the state of Kentucky and 6,353 of those students came from within the 22 counties of EKU's service region. The undergraduate population in the fall of 2016 was 14,293 students. Of those, 2,243 were first-year students and of those, 893 were first generation, first-year college students.

Similar to most colleges and universities around the country, Eastern Kentucky University struggles to retain students. Over the last seven years EKU's retention rate for first year students has hovered around 73 percent. This means that over 25 percent of first-year students drop out of EKU and are not retained to their second year. The statistics are even more sobering for some of our at-risk populations. Minority retention rates for first-year students at Eastern Kentucky University drop from the average of 73 percent to 62 percent.

Having a 73 percent retention rate from fall to fall of a student's first year equates to over 600 students from the first-year class leaving Eastern Kentucky University each year. Based on just tuition loss from those 600 students, the impact is over \$2.7 million of lost revenue annually. Adding the total cost of attendance, the loss impact grows to over \$10.5 million annually. This number grows exponentially when calculated out over four years. Additionally, the \$10.5 million annually does not factor in the extra time, energy, and fiscal resources Eastern Kentucky University spends in recruitment to try to recover for the turnover.

Just as the University is losing money, students who leave the University often leave with student debt. The total cost of attendance at Eastern Kentucky University (tuition, room, and board) is \$17,642.00 a year (*Tuition_and_fees_18-19_a.pdf*, n.d.). Adding in books and personal expenses, the total cost of attendance to a student for one year could be well above \$20,000.00. Often students have taken out loans to pay for college so the student will have to pay back this money with interest over the lifetime of the loan. As discussed earlier, the earning compacity of a person without a college degree is greatly diminished. This truly puts financial burden on students who are not retained. Finding ways to increase retention is important both to colleges and universities and to the students. If colleges and universities can improve their retention rates, they will be able to slow the hemorrhage of revenue, while also helping students be successful and obtain a college degree.

Eastern Kentucky Residential Learning Communities

Eastern Kentucky University Housing and Residence Life has 11 residence halls and 1 apartment complex within its housing stock. They have a total bed operation of 5,100. There is a variety of housing stock ranging from the traditional double-loaded corridor floor plan, where students share a double room with traditional community bathrooms, to simple and super suites where students share a double room as well as a bathroom conjoining with the room next to them. EKU Housing and Residence Life also has apartment housing stock where students have their own room and bathroom but share a living space with their apartment-mates.

Eastern Kentucky University Housing and Residence Life is an auxiliary department which means they are not funded through University allocations. The department is entirely funded through student housing fees. While retention rates have financial implications for the University, retention rates also directly impact auxiliary units. Other non-auxiliary departments have the security of University funding; however, auxiliaries must be able to fund themselves. If students are not retained, it has a direct impact on Eastern Kentucky University Housing and Residence Life's budget. Calculating with the least expensive room price point, a 600-student loss could lead to

over \$1.5 million of lost revenue. When calculated over the two-year residency requirement EKU Housing and Residence Life has, the lost revenue reaches nearly \$5 million. Clearly, retaining students is a huge concern for auxiliary departments such as EKU Housing and Residence Life.

Eastern Kentucky University Housing and Residence Life has 17 residential learning communities housed in 9 of their 11 residence halls across campus. Residential learning communities are an essential part of the mission of EKU Housing and Residence Life. It is their mission to foster the development, engagement, and success of the residential community by providing an inclusive home that enhances the collegiate experience. Residential learning communities engage students and help foster their development and success.

Each residential learning community has learning outcomes associated with the curriculum. Academic partners, as well as paraprofessional and professional housing staff members, are assigned to the community to help support students and encourage growth. The academic partners and housing staff members create a curriculum for the residential learning community that is designed to enhance the collegiate experience.

Students request placement in residential learning communities when applying for university housing and must complete an additional portion of the housing application specifically for residential learning communities. Some communities have specific requirements such as being a specific major or belonging to a specific academic

program within the halls. Once verified that a student meets requirements, they are placed by the housing assignment's staff in their community of choice.

Sample

This study includes all first generation, first-year college students enrolled at Eastern Kentucky University in the fall of 2016. It compares the first generation, firstyear college students who participated in residential learning communities to those who did not. The data concerning residential learning community students was provided by EKU Housing and Residence Life. The first generation, first-year college student data will be run with a report from the institutional database by the Senior Director of Student Success with permission from university administrative personnel.

The two data lists were Microsoft Excel files that were combined into one spreadsheet utilizing Microsoft Access. Once combined, the information was transferred back into Microsoft Excel where the data was cleaned and labeled in zeros and ones. This Microsoft Excel file was then uploaded into SPSS to be analyzed.

As displayed in Table 3.1, there were 893 first generation, first-year college students enrolled at Eastern Kentucky University in the fall of 2016. Of those, 135 first generation, first-year college students participated in residential learning communities while 758 did not.

Table 3.1

First generation, first-year Students in Residential Learning Communities

		Frequency	Valid Percent
Valid	No	758	84.9
	Yes	135	15.1
	Total	893	100.0

The gender breakdown of the first generation, first-year students is displayed in Table 3.2. There were 350 male first generation, first-year students in the fall of 2016 and 543 female students in the study.

Table 3.2

Gender Breakdown of First generation, first-year Students

	Gender	Frequency	Valid Percent
Valid	Male	350	39.2
	Female	543	60.8
	Total	893	100.0

Table 3.3 displays the minority status of the first generation, first-year students.

Of the 893 first generation, first-year students, 764 were white, while 120 were non-

white.

Table 3.3

Minority Students

		Frequency	Valid Percent
Valid	White	764	85.6
	Non-white	129	14.4
	Total	893	100.0

As shown in Table 3.4, 595 of the first generation, first-year students were eligible for a Pell Grant and 298 first generation, first-year students were not.

Table 3.4

Pell Grant Eligible

		Frequency	Valid Percent
Valid	No	298	33.4
	Yes	595	66.6
	Total	893	100.0

Research Design and Analysis

SPSS was used to perform analyses for both research questions. The researcher conducted two Analysis of Covariances (ANCOVAs). According to the SPSS Survival Manual (4th Edition), an ANCOVA is an extension of an ANOVA that allows you to explore differences between groups while statistically controlling for an additional continuous variable. Basically, it blends an ANOVA and regression to determine whether the means of your DV are the same across your categorical IV. Analysis of covariance is used in causal-comparative studies (Gay, Mills, & Arasian, 2009). In order to interpret the statistical significance of the ANCOVAs, the alpha will be set at .05.

Variables

There are two dependent variables in this study. The dependent variables are fall 2016 to fall 2017 retention rates of first generation, first-year college students (0=Not retained, 1=Retained) as well as cumulative grade point average (GPA) after the first year on a 4.0 scale. The independent variable was participation in residential learning communities (0=No, 1=Yes). Covariates included the following variables: Gender (0=male, 1=female), Race (0=White, 1=Non-white), Pell Grant Eligible (0=No, 1=Yes), high school grade point average, and composite ACT score.

Limitations of the Study

Limitations to this study should be recognized. This study was performed on one cohort of students. The residential living communities studied fell under one housing and residence life program at one regional, public institution of higher education in central Kentucky serving a specific region. These limitations may affect generalizability of findings to other types of institutions. Residential learning community programs vary from institution to institution which may also limit the generalizability of findings to other types of residential learning communities.

Students participating in residential learning communities at Eastern Kentucky University in some ways self-select into their preferred community. This may show a more active engagement than those students who did not choose to live in a residential learning community.

The use of grade point averages as a data point is not an exact science. There are many variations of classes that prohibit a standardization of grade point averages across the institution.

The sample size is relatively small, especially of those first generation, first-year students who are participating in residential learning communities. This may limit the statistical power when finding differences that exist.
Chapter Four: Results

Overview

Using the theoretical framework of Tinto's Conceptual Schema (1975), which emphasized academic and social integration as being important to a student's decision to stay at an institution, this study looked at the social integration factors of living in a residential learning community. The academic side focused on grade performance and intellectual development, while the social side focused on peer-group interactions and faculty interactions. As demonstrated through Tinto's Conceptual Schema, students enter an institution of higher education with individual attributes and past experiences. Once at the institution, the Schema acknowledges there are academic factors or integration that occur as well as social factors or integration that also affect retention.

This study looks at both the academic integration through a student's GPA and the social integration through participation in a residential learning community via peer and faculty interactions. In this, the researcher can see whether participation in residential learning communities has a positive effect on a first generation, first-year college student retention. Using Tinto, we can also see whether participation in residential learning communities has a positive effect on a first generation, first-year students' college GPAs.

Chapter four is dedicated to reporting the findings of this study. The purpose of this chapter is to report whether first time, first-generation college students participating in residential living learning communities during the fall 2016 semester

were retained at higher rates than those first-generation college students who did not participate in residential living learning communities.

Additionally, chapter four reports whether first generation college students participating in residential living learning communities had higher grade point averages than first generation college students who did not participate in residential living learning communities.

Descriptive statistics and ANCOVAs are included in the findings. The first section of chapter four discusses the Crosstabulations, Chi Square results, and Means ran on the sample in order to determine the critical covariates. The second section of the chapter explores the differences in retention rates between first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities and first generation, first-year students who did not participate. The third section of the chapter discusses the differences in first-generation college students' GPAs between students participating in residential learning communities (N=135) and first-generation college students who did not participate (N=758).

Crosstabulation of Gender by Residential Learning Community

In order to examine the significance of gender on first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities, and those not participating in learning communities, a crosstabulation was created. The crosstabulation in Table 4.1 shows 13.1% of all male first generation, first-year students participated in residential learning communities and 16.4% of all female first generation, first-year students

participated in the residential learning communities.

Table 4.1

Gender Residential Learning Community Crosstabulation

			Residentia Comn	Il Learning nunity	
			No	Yes	Total
Gender	Male	Count	304	46	350
		% within Gender	86.9%	13.1%	100.0%
		% within Residential Learning Community	40.1%	34.1%	39.2%
	Female	Count	454	89	543
		% within Gender	83.6%	16.4%	100.0%
		% within Residential Learning Community	59.9%	65.9%	60.8%
Total		Count	758	135	893
		% within Gender	84.9%	15.1%	100.0%
		% within Residential Learning Community	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

The results of the Chi-Square analysis ran in Table 4.2 establishes that the pvalue (p=.186) is greater than the chosen significance level of (a=0.05), therefore we do not reject the null hypothesis. There is not sufficient evidence to suggest an association between gender and participation in a residential learning community.

Chi-Square Tests-Gender

	Value	df	Asymptotic Significance (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	1.749 ^a	1	.186

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 52.91.

Crosstabulation of Racial Minority by Residential Learning Community

Another crosstabulation was created in order to determine the significance of race (white and non-white) on first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities, and those not participating in learning communities. The crosstabulation in Table 4.3 shows 15.7% of all white first generation, first-year students participated in residential learning communities and 11.6% of all non-white first generation, first-year students participated in residential learning communities.

			Residential Learning Community		
			No	Yes	Total
Minority	White	Count	644	120	764
		% within Minority	84.3%	15.7%	100.0%
		% within Residential Learning Community	85.0%	88.9%	85.6%
N	Non-white	Count	114	15	129
		% within Minority	88.4%	11.6%	100.0%
		% within Residential Learning Community	15.0%	11.1%	14.4%
Total		Count	758	135	893
		% within Minority	84.9%	15.1%	100.0%
		% within Residential Learning Community	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Minority Residential Learning Community Crosstabulation

The results of the Chi-Square analysis in Table 4.4 establishes that the p-value (p=.232) is greater than the chosen significance level of (a=0.05), therefore we do not reject the null hypothesis. There is not sufficient evidence to suggest an association between race and participation in a residential learning community.

Chi-Square Tests-Race

	Value	df	Asymptotic Significance (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	1.431ª	1	.232

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 19.50.

Crosstabulation of Pell Grant Eligibility by Residential Learning Community

A crosstabulation was also created to determine the significance Pell Grant eligibility had on first generation, first-year students who participated in residential learning communities and those who did not. As shown in Table 4.5, 21.1% of all first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities were not Pell Grant eligible. 12.1% of all first generation, first-year students who were Pell Grant eligible participated in residential learning communities.

			Residential Learning Community		
			Νο	Yes	Total
Pell Eligible	No	Count	235	63	298
		% within Pell Eligible	78.9%	21.1%	100.0%
		% within Residential Learning Community	31.0%	46.7%	33.4%
	Yes	Count	523	72	595
		% within Pell Eligible	87.9%	12.1%	100.0%
		% within Residential Learning Community	69.0%	53.3%	66.6%
Total		Count	758	135	893
		% within Pell Eligible	84.9%	15.1%	100.0%
		% within Residential Learning Community	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Pell Eligible Residential Learning Community Crosstabulation

The results of the Chi-Square analysis in Table 4.6 establishes that the p-value (p=.000) is less than the chosen significance level of (a=0.05), therefore we reject the null hypothesis. There is a statistically significant association between Pell Grant eligibility and participation in a residential learning community. Pell Grant eligible first generation, first-year students are less likely to live in residential learning communities.

Chi-Square Tests-Pell Eligible

	Value	df	Asymptotic Significance (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	12.645ª	1	.000

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 45.05.

Means High School GPA by Residential Learning Community

A comparison of the high school GPA of first generation, first-year college students participating in residential learning communities and first generation, first-year college students not participating in residential learning communities was performed to determine whether there were differences in academic performance of participants in this study prior to college. As shown in table 4.7, the mean high school GPA of first generation, first-year college students participating in residential learning communities (M=3.4179, SD= .49963) was slightly higher than the high school GPA of first generation, first-year college students who did not participate in residential learning communities (M=3.2236, SD= .53056).

Residential Learning Community	Mean	Ν	Std. Deviation
No	3.2236	755	.53056
Yes	3.4179	135	.49963
Total	3.2531	890	.53032

Means High School GPA by Residential Learning Community

Means ACT Composite Score by Residential Learning Community

In order to compare the ACT composite scores of first generation, first-year students participating in a residential learning community and those first generation, first-year students who did not participate in a residential learning community, a comparison was calculated to determine whether there were differences in the composite scores. The mean ACT composite scores of first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities (M=23.39, SD=4.505) were slightly higher than the first generation, first-year students who did not participate in residential learning communities who did not participate in residential learning communities who did not participate in residential learning communities (M=21.60, SD=3.667) as displayed in Table 4.8.

Table 4.8

Residential Learning Community	Mean	Ν	Std. Deviation
No	21.60	742	3.667
Yes	23.39	135	4.505
Total	21.88	877	3.860

Means ACT Composite Score by Residential Learning Community

Crosstabulation of Gender by Retention

In order to determine the significance of gender on the retention of first generation, first-year students, a crosstabulation was created. The crosstabulation in Table 4.9 shows 57.4% of all male first generation, first-year students were retained from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year and 66.3% of all female first generation, first-year students were retained from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year.

Table 4.9

Gender Retained Crosstabulation

			Reta		
			Νο	Yes	Total
Gender	Male	Count	149	201	350
		% within Gender	42.6%	57.4%	100.0%
		% within Retained	44.9%	35.8%	39.2%
	Female	Count	183	360	543
		% within Gender	33.7%	66.3%	100.0%
		% within Retained	55.1%	64.2%	60.8%
Total	-	Count	332	561	893
		% within Gender	37.2%	62.8%	100.0%
		% within Retained	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

The results of the Chi-Square analysis in Table 4.10 establishes that the p-value (p=.007) is less than the chosen significance level of (a=0.05), therefore we reject the

null hypothesis. There is a statistically significant association between gender and fallto-fall retention. Female first generation, first-year students retain at a statistically significant higher rate than male first generation, first-year students.

Table 4.10

Chi-Square Tests-Gender Retained

	Value	df	Asymptotic Significance (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	7.169ª	1	.007

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 130.12.

Crosstabulation of Racial Minority by Retention

A crosstabulation was created in order to examine significance of race on the retention rates for first generation, first-year students. The crosstabulation in Table 4.11 shows that 64.5% of all white first generation, first-year students retained from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year and that 52.7% of all non-white first generation, first-year students retained from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year and their first year to the fall of their second year.

Minority Retained Crosstabulation

		Retained			
			Νο	Yes	Total
Minority	White	Count	271	493	764
		% within Minority	35.5%	64.5%	100.0%
		% within Retained	81.6%	87.9%	85.6%
	Non-white	Count	61	68	129
		% within Minority	47.3%	52.7%	100.0%
		% within Retained	18.4%	12.1%	14.4%
Total		Count	332	561	893
		% within Minority	37.2%	62.8%	100.0%
		% within Retained	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

The results of the Chi-Square analysis in Table 4.12 establishes that the p-value (p=.010) is less than the chosen significance level of (a=0.05), therefore we reject the null hypothesis. There is a statistically significant association between minority status and retention. White first-year students retain at a statistically significant higher rate than non-white first generation, first-year students.

Chi-Square Tests-Minority

			Asymptotic
	Value	df	Significance (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	6.597ª	1	.010

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 47.96.

Crosstabulation of Pell Grant Eligibility by Retention

A crosstabulation was created to examine the significance of Pell Grant eligibility on the retention of first generation, first-year students. As shown in Table 4.13, 66.8% of all first generation, first-year students who were not eligible for Pell Grants were retained from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year and 60.8% of all first generation, first-year students who were Pell Grant eligible retained from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year.

Pell Eligible Retained Crosstabulation

			Reta		
			Νο	Yes	Total
Pell Eligible	No	Count	99	199	298
		% within Pell Eligible	33.2%	66.8%	100.0%
		% within Retained	29.8%	35.5%	33.4%
	Yes	Count	233	362	595
		% within Pell Eligible	39.2%	60.8%	100.0%
		% within Retained	70.2%	64.5%	66.6%
Total		Count	332	561	893
		% within Pell Eligible	37.2%	62.8%	100.0%
		% within Retained	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

The results of the Chi-Square analysis ran in Table 4.14 establishes that the pvalue (p=.083) is greater than the chosen significance level of (a=0.05), therefore we do not reject the null hypothesis. There is not sufficient evidence to suggest an association between Pell Grant eligibility and retention in first generation first-year students.

Chi-Square Tests-Pell Grant Eligibility

			Asymptotic
	Value	df	Significance (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	2.998 ^a	1	.083

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 110.79.

Means High School GPA by Retention

A comparison of the high school GPA of first generation, first-year college students who retained from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year and first generation, first-year college students who did not retain from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year was performed to determine whether there were differences in academic performance of participants in this study prior to college. As shown in table 4.15, the mean high school GPA of first generation, first-year college students who retained from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year (M=3.4180, SD= .47015) was higher than the high school GPA of first generation, firstyear college students did not retain from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year (M=2.9746, SD= .50993).

Retained	Mean	Ν	Std. Deviation
No	2.9746	331	.50993
Yes	3.4180	559	.47015
Total	3.2531	890	.53032

Means High School GPA by Retention

Means ACT Composite Score by Residential Learning Community

In order to compare the ACT composite scores of first generation, first-year students who retained from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year to first generation, first-year students who did not retain from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year a comparison was ran to discover the mean scores of both groups. The mean composite scores of first generation, first-year who retained from the fall of their first year to the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year a to the fall of their first year who retained from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year (M=22.83, SD=3.916) were higher than the first generation, first-year students who did not retain from the fall of their first year to the fall of their second year (M=20.25, SD 3.158) as displayed in Table 4.16.

Retained	Mean	Ν	Std. Deviation
No	20.25	323	3.158
Yes	22.83	554	3.916
Total	21.88	877	3.860

Means ACT Composite Score by Retention

Differences in Retention between First generation, first-year College Students Participating

in Residential Learning Communities and First-Generation College Students Not

Participating in Residential Learning Communities

The first research question focused on determining whether the retention rates of first generation, first-year college students participating in residential learning communities were higher than the retention rates of first generation, first-year college students not participating in residential learning communities. An Analysis of Covariance (ANCOVA) compared the fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, firstyear college students participating in residential learning communities to those first generation, first-year college students not participating in residential learning communities while controlling for gender, race, Pell Grant eligibility, ACT composite score, and high school GPA.

As shown in the descriptive statistics of Table 4.17, the fall-to-fall retention rate of the first generation, first-year college students participating in residential learning communities was 74%. The fall-to fall retention rate of first generation, first-year students not participating in residential learning communities was 61%. Based solely off those percentages, it appears that first generation, first-year college students participating in residential learning communities were retained at a higher rate.

Table 4.17

Residential Learning Community	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν
No	.61	.488	740
Yes	.74	.440	135
Total	.63	.483	875

Group Statistics: Fall-to-Fall Retention

When controlling for gender, race, Pell Grant eligibility, ACT composite score, and high school GPA retention being the dependent variable, all the variables account for a 17.2% variance in the overall fall-to-fall retention rate. The only covariates to have a statistically significant effect on retention were high school GPA (p=.000) and ACT Composite scores (p=.000) as shown in Table 4.18.

Source	Type III Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
Corrected Model	36.154ª	6	6.026	31.254	.000	.178
Intercept	7.672	1	7.672	39.791	.000	.044
GENDER	.005	1	.005	.027	.869	.000
MINORITY	.071	1	.071	.368	.544	.000
PELL_ELIGIBLE	.069	1	.069	.358	.550	.000
HS_GPA	13.859	1	13.859	71.881	.000	.076
ACTCOMP	2.506	1	2.506	12.996	.000	.015
ResidLearnComm	.242	1	.242	1.254	.263	.001
Error	167.350	868	.193			
Total	553.000	875				
Corrected Total	203.504	874				

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects: Dependent Variable: Retention

a. R Squared = .178 (Adjusted R Squared = .172)

Table 4.19 shows the estimated marginal means in the fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities and first generation, first-year students not participating in residential learning communities. While it reveals the fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, firstyear students participating in residential learning communities had a higher adjusted mean retention (Adj. M=.672) compared to the adjusted mean for fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, first-year students not participating in residential learning

communities (Adj. M=.625), it was not statistically significant.

Table 4.19

Estimated Marginal Means

Pacidontial Learning			95% Confide	ence Interval
Community	Mean	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
No	.625ª	.016	.593	.657
Yes	.672ª	.038	.596	.747

a. Covariates appearing in the model are evaluated at the following values: Gender = .61, Minority = .14, Pell Eligible = .67, High School GPA = 3.2642, ACT Composite = 21.87.

Means EKU GPA by Gender

A comparison of the EKU GPA of first generation, first-year college students by gender was performed to determine whether there were differences in the academic performance of participants. As shown in table 4.20, the mean EKU GPA of female, first generation, first-year college students (M=2.8439, SD= 1.00760) was higher than the mean EKU GPA of male, first generation, first-year college students (M=2.4175, SD= 1.05196).

Means EKU GPA by Gender

Gender	Mean	Ν	Std. Deviation
Male	2.4175	318	1.05196
Female	2.8439	508	1.00760
Total	2.6798	826	1.04509

Means EKU GPA by Minority

A comparison was run to compare the EKU GPA of first generation, first-year students by race. The mean EKU GPAs of white first generation, first-year students (M=2.71, SD=1.01952) were higher than non-white first generation, first-year students EKU GPA (M=2.4443, SD 1.16864) as displayed in Table 4.21.

Table 4.21

Means EKU GPA by Minority

Minority	Mean	Ν	Std. Deviation
White	2.7178	711	1.01952
Non-white	2.4443	115	1.16864
Total	2.6798	826	1.04509

Means EKU GPA by Pell Eligibility

A comparison was performed compare the EKU GPA of first generation, first-year students who were eligible for Pell Grants to those first generation, first-year students

who were not eligible for Pell Grants. The EKU GPA of first generation, first-year who were not Pell Grant eligible (M=2.8905, SD=1.00545) were higher than the EKU GPA of first generation, first-year students who were Pell Grant eligible (M=2.5740, SD=1.04947) as displayed in Table 4.22.

Table 4.22

Pell Eligible	Mean	Ν	Std. Deviation
No	2.8905	276	1.00545
Yes	2.5740	550	1.04947
Total	2.6798	826	1.04509

Means EKU GPA by Pell Eligible

Correlations EKU GPA with High School Achievement

A bivariate correlation was created between EKU GPA, high school GPA, and ACT composite scores. Table 4.23 shows both high school GPA (p=.000) and ACT composite scores (p=.000) were statistically significant. There is a medium positive correlation. As high school GPA rises, so does the EKU GPA. As the ACT composite scores increase so does the EKU GPA.

			High School	ACT Composite
	·	ERU_GFA	GFA	Composite
EKU_GPA	Pearson Correlation	1	.567**	.422**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.000
	Ν	826	823	811
High School GPA	Pearson Correlation	.567**	1	.560**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.000
	N	823	890	875
ACT Composite	Pearson Correlation	.422**	.560**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	
	Ν	811	875	877

Correlations EKU GPA with High School Achievement

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Differences in EKU GPA between First generation, first-year College Students Participating

in Residential Learning Communities and First-Generation College Students Not

Participating in Residential Learning Communities

The second research question focused on determining whether first generation, first-year college students participating in residential learning communities had higher EKU GPA's at the end of their first year than the first generation, first-year college students who did not participate in residential learning communities. An Analysis of Covariance (ANCOVA) compared the first-year GPAs of first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities and first generation, first-year students not participating in residential learning communities while controlling for gender, race, Pell Grant eligibility, ACT composite score, and high school GPA. As shown in Table 4.24, the first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities have a higher non-adjusted mean GPA (M=2.85) compared to the first generation, first-year students not participating in residential learning communities (M=2.65).

Table 4.24

Descriptive Statistics: Dependent Variable: EKU GPA

Residential Learning Community	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν
No	2.6539	1.03721	677
Yes	2.8586	1.04279	132
Total	2.6873	1.04023	809

In the ANCOVA, all the variables account for 34.8% of the variance in cumulative GPA for the first generation, first-year students participating in the study. Table 4.25 shows three covariates have statistical significance in relation to EKU GPA. Gender (p=.018), high school GPA (p=.000), and ACT composite scores (p=.000) are all statistically significant covariates which affected a student's EKU GPA.

Tests of Between-Subjects Effects

Source	Type III Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
Corrected Model	308.095ª	6	51.349	72.730	.000	.352
Intercept	28.598	1	28.598	40.506	.000	.048
GENDER	3.957	1	3.957	5.605	.018	.007
MINORITY	1.501	1	1.501	2.126	.145	.003
PELL_ELIGIBLE	1.739	1	1.739	2.463	.117	.003
HS_GPA	125.049	1	125.049	177.117	.000	.181
ACTCOMP	13.088	1	13.088	18.537	.000	.023
ResidLearnComm	.101	1	.101	.143	.705	.000
Error	566.233	802	.706			
Total	6716.556	809				
Corrected Total	874.328	808				

a. R Squared = .352 (Adjusted R Squared = .348)

Table 4.26 shows the estimated marginal means regarding the EKU GPA of first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities and first generation, first-year students not participating in residential learning communities. While it reveals that first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities had a lower adjusted mean EKU GPA (Adj. M=2.662) comparted to the adjusted mean EKU GPA of first generation, first-year students not participating in residential learning communities (Adj. M=2.692), the findings were not statistically significant.

Table 4.26

Estimated Marginal Means

Decidential Learning			95% Confidence Interval		
Community	Mean	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
No	2.692 ^a	.032	2.629	2.756	
Yes	2.662ª	.074	2.516	2.807	

a. Covariates appearing in the model are evaluated at the following values: Gender = .62, Minority = .14, Pell Eligible = .67, High School GPA = 3.3094, ACT Composite = 22.06.

Chapter Five: Discussion, Future Research, and Conclusion

Overview

This chapter will discuss the findings of this study regarding the efficacy of participation in residential learning communities on the fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, first-year students as well the effect on their EKU GPA. A summary and interpretation of the results will be provided. Inconsistencies with previous research will be explored as well as implications for policy and practice. Recommendations for future research will be made. A conclusion will end the chapter.

Summary of the Study

The purpose of this study was to determine whether participation in a residential learning community influenced the fall-to-fall retention rates and GPA of first generation, first-year students. First-generation college students are an at-risk population who have unique needs compared to their peers. Typically, they retain at a lesser rate than their peers who are not first-generation students (Garcia, 2010; Irlbeck et al., 2014; McLean, 2013; Padgett et al., 2012; Pascarella, Pierson, Wolniak, & Terenzini, 2004; Peabody et al., 2011; Terenzini et al., 1996). Retention at institutions of higher education has become increasingly important because of the loss of revenue and state funding (Irlbeck et al., 2014). The importance of student retention is compounded when institutions have a high population of first-generation students due to the lower rate at which they retain. This study used Tinto's Conceptual Schema (1975) which identified social and academic integration both factoring into the retention of students. Building upon the foundation Tinto laid, it was theorized that because residential learning communities combined both the academic and social integration, they would have a positive effect on the fall-to-fall retention as well as the GPA of first generation, first-year students.

This study included all 893 first generation, first-year students enrolled at Eastern Kentucky University in the fall of 2016, of which 135 participated in residential learning communities.

Interpretation of Results.

When looking at participation in residential learning communities, crosstabulations of covariates showed gender and race were not statistically significant in determining participation. However, Pell Grant eligibility did bear significance. First generation, first-year college students who were Pell Grant eligible were less likely to participate in residential learning communities.

Gender, race, and Pell Grant eligibility were also examined in relation to retention of first generation, first-year students through a crosstabulation. The results showed that gender and race were both statistically significant in the retention of first generation, first-year students. Female first generation, first-year students retained at higher rates than their male counterparts. White first generation, first-year students also retained at higher rates than non-white first generation, first-year students. Pell Grant eligibility did not have a statistically significance bearing on the retention of first generation, first-year students.

The results showed first generation, first-year students who participated in residential learning communities were more likely to have a higher high school GPA than first generation, first-year students who did not participate in residential learning communities. First generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities were also more likely to have a higher ACT composite score.

The study examined the difference in retention rates in comparison to high school GPA and ACT composite scores. The results showed that both high school GPA and ACT composite scores are statistically significant when looking at first generation, first-year student retention.

Results showed the differences in EKU GPA in comparison to gender, race, and Pell Grant eligibility. The means showed female first generation, first-year students had higher EKU GPAs than male first generation, first-year students. White first generation, first-year students also had higher EKU GPAs than non-white first generation, first-year students. Pell Grant eligible first generation, first-year students had lower EKU GPAs than the first generation, first-year students who were not Pell Grant eligible.

Based on these findings a bivariate correlation was conducted between the EKU GPA, high school GPA, and ACT composite scores of first generation, first-year students. The results showed there was a medium positive correlation in that if high school GPA

increased, so did EKU GPA. The same was true with the ACT composite scores. When ACT composite scores increased, so did the EKU GPA.

Two ANCOVA's were conducted to determine the effect residential learning community participation had on the fall-to-fall retention rates and GPA of first generation, first-year students. The dependent variables were fall 2016 to fall 2017 retention rates of first generation, first-year students as well as cumulative grade point average. The independent variable was participation in residential learning communities. Covariates in the ANCOVA were gender, race, Pell Grant eligibility, high school GPA and composite ACT scores.

Research Question One

When looking just at the descriptive statistics it seemed that participation in residential learning communities had a statistically significant effect on the fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, first-year students, however, after controlling for gender, race, Pell Grant eligibility, high school GPA, and ACT composite score, the results showed participation in residential learning communities did not have a statistically significant effect on fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, first-year students. The adjusted means still showed the fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities had a higher adjusted mean retention (Adj. M=.672) compared to the adjusted mean fall-to-fall retention rates of first generation, first-year students not participating in residential learning communities (Adj. M=.625), however it was not statistically significant. The ANCOVA did

show high school GPA and ACT composite scores were statistically significant covariates in relation to first generation, first-year fall-to-fall retention rates.

Research Question Two

The findings for the second research question were similar to those of the first research question. When looking just at the descriptive statistics, the EKU GPA of first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities was higher than those first generation, first-year students who did not participate in residential earning communities. However, after controlling for gender, race Pell Grant eligibility, high school GPA, and ACT composite scores the adjusted means showed that first generation, first-year students who did not participate in residential learning communities had a higher EKU GPA although there was no statistical significance. The ANCOVA did show that gender, high school GPA, and ACT composite scores were all statistically significant covariates when looking at first generation, first-year student EKU GPA.

Inconsistency with Previous Research

Some results in this study were consistent with previous research, while other results were inconsistent with existing literature. High school GPA and ACT composite scores have been identified as significant variables in a student's ability to retain at an institution of higher education (Alarcon & Edwards, 2013; Barclay et al., 2018; Padgett et al., 2012; Reason, 2009; Terenzini & Pascarella, 1978; Westrick et al., 2015). This proved consistent in the study. Also consistent with previous research, females tend to

retain at higher rates than male students and Pell Grant eligibility often plays a role in a student's retention and GPA.

Studies have shown that participation in high impact practices such as learning communities often have a positive effect on retention and GPA. These kinds of communities provide the social interaction that is critical to a student's desire to stay at an institution (Rohli & Rogge, 2012; Seidman, 2005; Sweat, 2016). Based on this research, participation in the learning community environment should have increased the retention rate and GPA of the first generation, first-year students.

Other studies show that higher facilitated interactions with faculty impacted a student's ability to retain and excel academically at an institution (Brownell & Swaner, 2009; Purdie & Rosser, 2011). These interactions help to create impactful relationships between faculty and first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities. The interaction between the first generation, first-year students participating in residential studential learning in residential learning communities and the faculty learning partners should have had a positive impact on their success based on this research.

Studies have shown the social integration which happens outside of the classroom in a community environment should have a positive effect on a student's success (Hall & O'Neal, 2016). Residential learning communities intentionally create a community environment where peer-to-peer interactions hare happening (Wilson et al., 2015). This connection should provide another layer of connection to help students form the social integration necessary for persistence (Inkelas et al., 2006).

There have been some studies which found residential learning communities aimed towards at-risk populations such as first generation, first-year students proved beneficial to those students helping them with the ease of academic and social integration (Inkelas et al., 2007). Working with an at-risk population, this study should have seen similar results.

Why Are Residential Learning Communities Not Making a Difference?

Many factors may have contributed to the findings of this study. There are a variety of residential learning communities at Eastern Kentucky University each with different learning objectives and goals. These communities can be thematic or academic in nature. While all residential learning communities have Memorandums of Understanding, not all are connected to faculty in the same way, nor do they have the same kinds of programming. Because of this, some residential learning communities may be helping first generation, first-year students persist while other may not. From this study, there is not a way to isolate a specific residential learning community to identify the impact of each community individually.

Not all residential learning communities at Eastern Kentucky University are specifically connected to a core curriculum. Although students have intentional interactions with faculty learning partners, not all students participating in residential learning communities have shared courses they take together. This could be limiting the positive impact participation in a residential learning community has on a student's success.

Residential learning communities that are connected via a core curriculum may have different professors teaching the various classes. Each professor may grade differently which could affect the participant's overall success in the classroom and the resulting EKU GPA.

Other residential learning communities do not connect with a core curriculum and may only have one class in common. All their other courses are not linked which creates a wide variation in the classes being taken. Some courses may be more difficult than others which could contribute to a student's success as well as their EKU GPA.

Residential learning communities at Eastern Kentucky University could also be ineffective. They are not specifically organized to help at-risk students. There are not any residential learning communities aimed specifically at first generation, first-year students. The learning objectives and goals may not be targeting the necessary social integrations necessary to help students be successful.

There are many factors that contribute to the success of a first generation, firstyear student and their persistence (Terenzini et al., 1996). Family issues as well as financial difficulties also play a role into student retention and GPA. While residential learning communities may not be showing as effective in this study, it may be these other factors which are actually inhibiting the success of first generation, first-year students.

Other involvements for first generation, first-year residential learning community participants may also be contributing to the lack of success and persistence.

There are a lot of opportunities for students to get involved across campus. Residential learning community students may not be engaged in the community if they are engaged elsewhere. The full effect of residential learning communities on the success of a student may not be seen if they are not participating in all the events and activities provided in the residential learning community.

Implications for Policy and Practice

Although this study shows first generation, first-year student participation in residential learning communities had no statistically significant impact on their success or their persistence, there are still implications for policy and practice.

Residential Learning Communities

Eastern Kentucky University Housing and Residence Life can improve their residential learning community practices in order to improve their effectiveness. All residential learning communities should implement a more academically focused curriculum to their learning objectives and goals. This should be interwoven with a core curriculum of linked courses for their students. A more focused and integrated approach should increase participants' abilities to be academically successful.

Eastern Kentucky Housing and Residence Life should also look at the structure of their residential learning communities to determine whether they should create communities for at-risk populations designed with specific attention to the specific needs of each unique group. Being able to concentrate on a specific group's needs may help the effectiveness of the residential learning community. This would involve

commitment from Eastern Kentucky University Housing and Residence Life to examine and change the assignment process especially for incoming first year students.

While there are Memorandums of Understanding, Eastern Kentucky University should revisit each one and identify further ways to incorporate academic and social integration. There may be further opportunities to engage faculty in the communities as well as to identify additional learning objectives which could increase student success. Each learning objective should have goals associated with it; and each goal should have a pathway identified for completion; each goal should have established metrics for how the goal is to be measured and assessed. There should be additional research to identify best practices for residential learning communities and those practices should be interwoven into the communities.

Admissions

This study showed high school GPA and ACT composite scores had a statistically significant impact on the retention of first generation, first-year students as well as on their EKU GPA. The biggest predictor of success was a student's high school GPA. Currently, Admissions considers high school GPA in the acceptance process, but acceptance depends heavily on ACT composite scores. It is understandable as standardized tests such as the ACT are a common and consistent measurement for all students regardless of the high school they attend (Westrick et al., 2015). High school GPAs are much more subjective. Curriculum and courses vary from high school to high school as do grading practices.
Even with the inconsistencies high school GPAs hold, high school GPA has been identified as a statistically significant indicator for retention and EKU GPA of first generation, first-year students. Knowing this, Admissions should consider weighing high school GPA more heavily when considering admittance to the institution. Admitting students with higher high school GPAs, even when their composite ACT score may not be as high, could improve overall retention and success, especially when considering admitting first generation, first-year students.

Future Research

This study indicates first generation, first-year participation in residential learning communities does not impact the success and retention of first generation, first-year students. Research indicates at-risk student participation in learning communities and residential learning communities have positive effects on student success and retention. Based on the findings of this study, the researcher recommends further research regarding on first generation, first-year students participation in residential learning communities at Eastern Kentucky University, as well as future research on the types of residential learning communities at Eastern Kentucky University.

Only the data from one cohort of students over one year was used in this study. Studies should be done to look at the success and retention of first generation, first-year students participating in residential learning communities over multiple years in order to show the trends and develop a broader perspective of how residential learning

93

communities may contribute to the success and retention of first generation, first-year students.

This study also examined residential learning communities at one regional institution. Further studies should incorporate multiple institutions, including Eastern Kentucky University's benchmark institutions. Using the same type of analysis and combining the results from multiple higher education institutions would increase the sample size. The statistical power to establish differences would also increase because of the larger sample size.

Because this study combined all residential learning communities into one group, the researcher would recommend further exploring and breaking down the data by type of residential learning community to determine whether there are differences in academically based residential learning communities compared to thematically based residential learning communities. Different types of residential learning communities may effect student success and retention in different ways. These studies could show that some residential learning communities may prove more effective in increasing a student's success than others which is critical for institutions to know when considering which programs to implement.

Another future study that should be considered is a qualitative study to further explore what ways residential learning communities may be contributing to the student success and retention of first generation, first-year students. This study examined and utilized quantitative data which was limiting. Qualitative studies could identify themes

94

and areas of success that quantitative data cannot identify. Instead of utilizing data collected by the university, a qualitative study would gather information directly from the students which would provide the researcher more flexibility to explore themes that may be identified in the study.

The researcher also recommends utilizing other metrics to help identify ways residential learning communities may be affecting the success of students and their retention. There have been metrics created to measure the sense of belonging of students as well as thriving metrics. Utilizing metrics such as these may give further insight into the validity of residential learning communities. It also provides the researcher the opportunity to survey the students directly.

This study looked at residential learning communities at one regional institution. The program was specific to Eastern Kentucky University Housing and Residence Life. Because there is such variation in residential learning communities, future research should consider trying to identify like programs at a variety of institutions across the nation. Being able to identify similar programs would increase the sample size and give a better picture of the effectiveness of the residential learning community program.

Another consideration for future study would be to expand the study and not limit the population to first-year students. Looking at upperclassmen as well as transfer students could give the institution a better understanding of how residential learning communities are impacting the first-generation student population as whole.

95

While this study looked specifically at first generation, first-year students, further research could expand the study to all first-year students participating in residential learning communities. This would help to identify the efficacy of residential learning communities at Eastern Kentucky University.

Conclusion

This study used Tinto's Conceptual Schema (1975) which indicated both social and academic integration factors into a student's retention. Building upon the foundation Tinto laid, the study theorized that because residential learning communities combined both the academic and social integration, the residential learning community would have a positive effect on the fall-to-fall retention of first generation, first-year students. This study examined the efficacy of Tinto's model on retention of first generation, first-year college students who participated in residential learning communities compared to those first generation, first-year college students who did not participate in residential learning communities.

Results of the study indicated that participation in a residential learning community was not statistically significant to the fall-to-fall retention of first generation, first-year students. While there are many factors that may have contributed to these results, residential learning communities have been shown to increase retention of participants at other institutions.

Based upon Tinto's research, Eastern Kentucky University understood the importance of integrating social and academic integration through programs such as

residential learning communities. This study examined the efficacy of Tinto's model on college GPA of first generation, first-year college students who participated in residential learning communities compared to those first generation, first-year college students who did not participate in residential learning communities. The results of the study indicated participation in residential learning communities held no statistical significance on EKU GPA for first generation, first-year students.

Universities such as Eastern Kentucky University work hard to provide opportunities to students with hopes to increase their success and persistence. Residential learning communities are an investment in the student population, including students who are at-risk such as first generation, first-year students. Research shows that when programs help students with both academic and social integration, persistence increases. Universities must continue identifying programs that help students persist and succeed. While this study did not show statistical significance with participation, programs such as residential learning communities should be explored and adjusted to provide the best support for all students.

References

About EKU | Eastern Kentucky University | Eastern Kentucky University. (n.d.).

Retrieved March 19, 2019, from https://www.eku.edu/about

ACUHO-I Library—View Catalog Record. (2017, October 13). Retrieved October 12,

2017, from http://library.acuho-

i.org/Presto/content/Detail.aspx?q=Zmlyc3QgZ2VuZXJhdGlvbg==&ctID=YzAy ZDQwOGEtMjM2NS00OWZkLTgzNjgtZTdhMTBjYjg0YTA2&rID=NTc2OA= =&qcf=&ph=VHJ1ZQ==&bckToL=VHJ1ZQ==&

- Alarcon, G. M., & Edwards, J. M. (2013). Ability and motivation: Assessing individual factors that contribute to university retention. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *105*(1), 129–137. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028496
- Arensdorf, J., & Naylor-Tincknell, J. (2016). Beyond the traditional retention data: A qualitative study of the social benefits of living learning communities. *Learning Communities: Research & Practice*, 4(1). (Evergreen State College's Washington Center, the National Resource for Learning Communities. 2700 Evergreen Parkway NW, SEM II E2115, Olympia, WA 98505. Tel: 360-864-6606; Fax: 360-867-6662; e-mail: washcenter@evergreen.edu; Web site: http://washingtoncenter.evergreen.edu/lcrpjournal/).

Assessing Learning Outcomes in Living-Learning Pro...: Full Text Finder Results. (n.d.).

Retrieved March 25, 2019, from

http://resolver.ebscohost.com.pallas2.tcl.sc.edu/openurl?sid=google&auinit=G&a ulast=Stewart&atitle=Assessing+learning+outcomes+in+livinglearning+programs%3a+One+journey&title=Journal+of+College+%26+Universit y+Student+Housing&volume=35&issue=1&date=2008&spage=51&issn=0161-827X&site=ftf-live

- Astin, A. W. (1975). *Preventing students from dropping out /*. Retrieved from https://eduq.info/xmlui/handle/11515/11424
- Barclay, T., H., Barclay, R. D., Mims, A., Sargent, Z., & Robertson, K. (2018). Acadmic Retntion: Predictors of College Success. *Education*, 139(2), 59–70.
- Bonet, G., & Walters, B. R. (2016). High impact practices: Student engagement and retention. *College Student Journal*, 50(2), 224–235.
- Braxton, J. M. (2000). *Reworking the student departure puzzle* (1st ed.). Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press.
- Brower, A. M., & Inkelas, K. K. (2010). Living-learning programs: One high-impact educational practice we now know a lot about. *Liberal Education*, *96*(2), 36–43.
- Brownell, J. E., & Swaner, L. E. (2009). High-impact practices: Applying the learning outcomes literature to the development of successful campus programs. *Peer Review*, 11(2), 26–30.

- Cho, S.-J., Hudley, C., Lee, S., Barry, L., & Kelly, M. (2008). Roles of gender, race, and SES in the college choice process among first-generation and nonfirst-generation students. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 1(2), 95–107. https://doi.org/10.1037/1938-8926.1.2.95
- Choy, S., (2001). Students whose parents did not go to college: postsecondary access, persistence, and attainment. findings from the condition of education, https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED460660
- Daffron, E., & Holland, C. J. (2009). Honors living-learning communities: A model of success and collaboration. *Honors in Practice*, 5, 197–209.
- Demetriou, C., Meece, J., Eaker-Rich, D., & Powell, C. (2017). The activities, roles, and relationships of successful first-generation college students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 58(1), 19–36.
- Digest of Education Statistics, 2016. (n.d.). Retrieved November 26, 2017, from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d16/tables/dt16_105.20.asp?current=yes
- EKU Service Region | Office Of Institutional Research | Eastern Kentucky University. (n.d.). Retrieved March 19, 2019, from https://ir.eku.edu/eku-service-region

Factbook 2016-2017 | Office Of Institutional Research | Eastern Kentucky University.

(n.d.). Retrieved March 23, 2019, from https://ir.eku.edu/factbook-2016-2017

Finding my way: Perceptions of institutional support and belonging in low-income, firstgeneration, first-year college students - pdf. (2017, October 13). Retrieved October 12, 2017, from https://muse.jhu.edu/article/670090/pdf

First to Second Year Retention Rates—Ky. Council on Postsecondary Education. (n.d.). Retrieved March 19, 2019, from http://cpe.ky.gov/data/universities-retention.html

- Garcia, V. (2010). First-generation college sudents: How co-curricular invovlement can assist with success. *The Vermont Connection*, *31*(Article 6).
- Garrison, D. R., & Vaughan, N. D. (2008). Blended Learning in Higher Education: Framework, Principles, and Guidelines. John Wiley & Sons.
- Goodman, K., & Pascarella, E. T. 2, 3. (2006). First-year seminars increase persistence and retention: A summary of the evidence from how college affects students. *Peer Review*, 8(3), 26–28.
- Hall, B., & O'Neal, T., (2016). The residential learning community as a platform for high- impact educational practices aimed at at-risk student success. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching & Learning*, *16*(6), 42–55.
 https://doi.org/10.14434/josotl.v16i6.19585
- Hobbins, Eisenbach, M., Jacobs, S., & Ritchie, K. (2017). Do students who live in residence learning communities perform better academically than those who live in traditional residence and off-campus? *Discussions on University Science Teaching: Proceedings of the Western Conference on Science Education*, 1.
- Hopkins, K. (2011). Tips for first-generation college students. US New; Best Colleges. Retrieved from https://www.usnews.com/education/bestcolleges/articles/2011/12/28/tips-for-first-generation-college-students
- Inkelas, K. K., Daver, Z. E., Vogt, K. E., & Leonard, J. (2007). Living–learning programs and first-generation college students' academic and social transition to college. *Research in Higher Education*, 48(4), 403–434. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-006-9031-6

- Inkelas, K. K., Vogt, K. E., Longerbeam, S. D., Owen, J. E., & Johnson, D. R. (2006). Measuring outcomes of living-learning programs: Examining college environments and student learning and development. *The Journal of General Education*, 55(1), 40–76. https://doi.org/10.1353/jge.2006.0017
- Irlbeck, E., Adams, S., Akers, C., Burris, S., & Jones, S. (2014). First generation college students: Motivations and support systems. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 55(2), 154–166.
- Ishitani, T. T. (2003). A longitudinal approach to assessing attrition behavior among firstgeneration students: Time-varying effects of pre-college characteristics. *Research in Higher Education*, *44*(4), 433–449.
- Kuh, G. (2008, September 30). High-impact educational practices: What they are, who has access to them, and why they matter [Text]. Retrieved December 9, 2017, from Association of American Colleges & Universities website: https://www.aacu.org/publications-research/publications/high-impact-educationalpractices-what-they-are-who-has-access-0
- McCuen@aacu.org. (2013, October 31). High-impact practices [Text]. Retrieved December 5, 2017, from Association of American Colleges & Universities website: http://www.aacu.org/resources/high-impact-practices

McLean, L. C. (2013). First-generation freshman college students: Factors impacting retention for the subsequent year. ProQuest LLC. (ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway, P.O. Box 1346, Ann Arbor, MI 48106. Tel: 800-521-0600; Web site: http://www.proquest.com/en-

US/products/dissertations/individuals.shtml).

McLENDON, M. K. 1, 2, & Hearn, J. C. 3. (2013). The Resurgent Interest in

Performance-Based Funding for Higher Education. Academe, 99(6), 25–30.

Miao, K. (n.d.). Performance-Based Funding of Higher Education. 12.

- Millea, M., Willis, R., Elder, A., & Molina, D. (2018). What Matters in College Student Success? Determinants of College Retention and Graduation Rates. *Education*, 138(4), 309–322.
- Mitchell, M., Palacios, V., & Leachman, M. (2014). States are still funding higher education below pre-recession levels. *Center on Budget and Policy Priorities*.
- Padgett, R. D., Johnson, M. P., & Pascarella, E. T. (2012). First-generation undergraduate students and the impacts of the first year of college: Additional evidence pdf. *Journal of College Student Development*, 53 Number 2(March/April), 243–266.
- Pascarella, E. T., Pierson, C. T., Wolniak, G. C., & Terenzini, P. T. (2004). Firstgeneration college students. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 75(3), 249–284. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2004.11772256
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (2005). How College Affects Students: A Third Decade of Research. Volume 2. Jossey-Bass, An Imprint of Wiley.
- Peabody, M., Hutchens, N. H., Lewis, W. D., & Deffendall, M. (2011). First-generation college students at the university of kentucky. *Policy Analysis Center for Kentucky Education White Papers*.

Price, D. V. (2005). Learning Communities and Student Success in Postsecondary Education. A Background Paper. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED489439

- Purdie, J. R., II, & Rosser, V. J. (2011). Examining the Academic Performance and Retention of First-Year Students in Living-Learning Communities and First-Year Experience Courses. *College Student Affairs Journal*, *29*(2), 95–112. (IAP -Information Age Publishing, Inc. P.O. Box 79049, Charlotte, NC 28271. Tel: 704-752-9125; Fax: 704-752-9113; e-mail: infoage@infoagepub.com; Web site: http://www.infoagepub.com/college-student-affairs-journal.html).
- Reason, R. D. (2003). Student Variables that predict Retention: Recent Research and New Developments.
- Reason, R. D. (2009). An examination of persistence research through the lens of a comprehensive conceptual framework. *Journal of College Student Development*, 50(6), 659–682. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.0.0098
- Rohli, R. V., & Rogge, R. A. (2012). An Empirical Study of the Potential for Geography in University Living-learning Communities in the United States. *Journal of Geography in Higher Education*, 36(1), 81–95.
- Seidman, A. (2005). College Student Retention: Formula for Student Success.Greenwood Publishing Group, 88 Post Road West, Westport, CT 06825.
- Shapiro, N. S., & Levine, J. H. (1999). Creating Learning Communities: A Practical Guide to Winning Support, Organizing for Change, and Implementing Programs. Jossey-Bass Higher and Adult Education Series. Jossey-Bass Inc.
- Smith, B. L. (2001). The challenge of learning communities as a growing national movement. Association of American Colleges & Universities, 4(1), 4.

- Soria, K., & Mitchell, T. D. (2015). Learning communities: Foundations for first-year students' deelopment of pluralistic outcomes. *Learning Communities Reserach* and Practice, 3 (2)(Article 2).
- Stassen, M. L. A. 1, 2, mstassen @acad.umass.edu. (2003). Student outcomes: The impact of varying living-learning community models. *Research in Higher Education*, 44(5), 581.
- Stebleton, M., & Soria, K. (2013). Breaking down barriers: academic obstacles of firstgeneration students at research universities.

http://conservancy.umn.edu/handle/11299/150031

- Sweat, A. M. (2016). The effect of learning communities on freshman student retention rates and gpa at a public 4-year institution of higher education (D.E., Eastern Kentucky University). Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/pqdtglobal/docview/1861664442/abstract/27FB94F26 081487CPQ/3
- Tampke, D. R., & Durodoye, R. (2013). Improving academic success for undecided students: A first-year seminar/learning community approach. *Learning Communities Reserach and Practice*, 1(2), Article 3.
- Terenzini, P. T., & Pascarella, E. T. (1978). Relation of students' precollege characteristics and freshman year experience to voluntary attrition. *Research in Higher Education*, 9(4), 347–366.
- Terenzini, P. T., Springer, L., Yaeger, P. M., Pascarella, E. T., & Nora, A. (1996). Firstgeneration college students: Characteristics, experiences, and cognitive development. *Research in Higher Education*, 37(1), 1–22.

- The Condition of Education—Postsecondary Education—Postsecondary Environments and Characteristics—Characteristics of Postsecondary Students—Indicator April (2017). (n.d.). Retrieved November 22, 2017, from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_csb.asp
- Tinto, V. (1975). Dropout from Higher Education: A Theoretical Synthesis of Recent Research. *Review of Educational Research*, 45(1), 89–125. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543045001089
- Tinto, V. (1988). Stages of student departure: Reflections on the longitudinal character of student leaving. *The Journal of Higher Education*, *59*(4), 438–455.
- Tinto, V. (1999). Taking Retention Seriously: Rethinking the First Year of College. *NACADA Journal*, *19*(2), 5–9. https://doi.org/10.12930/0271-9517-19.2.5
- Tinto, V. (2003). Learning Better Together: The Impact of Learning Communities on Student Success. 8.

Tuition_and_fees_18-19_a.pdf. (n.d.). Retrieved from

https://studentaccounting.eku.edu/sites/studentaccounting.eku.edu/files/tuition_an d_fees_18-19_a.pdf#_ga=2.29401407.1821249078.1553575932-

2113034486.1548392319

- Unemployment rates and earnings by educational attainment. (n.d.). Retrieved November 26, 2017, from https://www.bls.gov/emp/ep_chart_001.htm
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2015). *Kentucky. State and County Quick Facts*. Retrieved from http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/21000.html

Veenstra, C. (2008). A strategy for improving freshman college retention—Proquest. Retrieved November 22, 2017, from https://search-proquestcom.libproxy.eku.edu/openview/3216ab5cec3a94eca6e1cc6579a399ae/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=37083

- Vision, Mission And Values | Strategic Planning | Eastern Kentucky University. (n.d.). Retrieved March 19, 2019, from https://strategicplanning.eku.edu/vision-missionand-values
- Westrick, P. A., Le, H., Robbins, S. B., Radunzel, J. M. R., & Schmidt, F. L. (2015).
 College Performance and Retention: A Meta-Analysis of the Predictive Validities of ACT® Scores, High School Grades, and SES. *Educational Assessment*, 20(1), 23–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/10627197.2015.997614
- Where Are the Hardest Places to Live in the U.S.? The New York Times. (n.d.). Retrieved March 19, 2019, from https://www.nytimes.com/2014/06/26/upshot/where-are-the-hardest-places-tolive-in-the-us.html
- Wilson, N., Bjerke, E., & Martin, L. (2015). Aviation living learning community:Impacts on student success. *Collegiate Aviation Review*, *33*(1), 29–43.